
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 13 March 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Mr. E. Walters (0116 3052583) 

Email: Euan.Walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 

 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 
 
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Cancer Performance Update.  
 

 
 

(Pages 11 - 24) 

9.  
  

Healthwatch Review of Winter Messages.  
 

 
 

(Pages 25 - 34) 

10.  
  

Urgent and Emergency Care Resilience and 
Winter 2018/19.  
 

 
 

(Pages 35 - 72) 

11.  
  

Non Emergency Transport - TASL  
 

 
 

(Pages 73 - 80) 

12.  
  

NHS Long Term Plan.  
 

 
 

(Pages 81 - 92) 

13.  
  

Health Performance Update.  
 

 
 

(Pages 93 - 116) 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 5 
June 2019 at 2:00pm. 
 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at County 
Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 16 January 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

 
In attendance 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC, Cabinet Lead Member Health, Public Health and Sport 
Louise Hall, Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire 
Mark Wightman, Director of Communications and External Relations, University Hospitals 
Leicester NHS Trust (minute 54 refers) 
Ket Chudasama, Director of Performance & Corporate Affairs, West Leicestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (minute 54 refers) 
  

45. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2018 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed, subject to amendment to minute no.43: The Development of a Unitary Structure 
for Local Government in Leicestershire, under the Financial Situation heading, so that the 
minute states: 
 
“Leicestershire received less funding than Northamptonshire, on a per head basis. A 
rough estimate of the order of magnitude of £13 million was provided to the Committee [it 
was subsequently clarified to be £16 million per annum].” 
 

46. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

47. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

48. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

49. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 

5 Agenda Item 1



 

 

 
No declarations were made. 
 

50. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 16. 
 

51. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

52. Public Health Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Public Health and the Director 
of Corporate Resources which provided information on the proposed 2019/20 to 2022/23 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it related to the Public Health Department. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item ‘8’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
The Chairman welcomed Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC, Cabinet Lead Member Health, Public 
Health and Sport, to the meeting for this item. 
 
In introducing the report, the Director and Cabinet Lead Member informed the Committee 
that 2019/20 was the last year that Public Health would be financed through a ring-fenced 
grant from the Department of Health. It was expected that from 2020/21 Public Health 
would be funded from retained business rates. However, until the outcome of the 2019 
Spending Review was announced the exact funding that the Public Health Department 
would receive would not be known and therefore assumptions had been made in the 
MTFS.  The Director was confident that Public Health would be able to make the 
necessary savings for a balanced budget for the 2019/20 year. However, for the following 
three years the position was less clear. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were noted:- 
 
Service Transformation 
 
(i) The Director of Public Health provided some reassurance that if the funding position 

changed in the future from that which had been anticipated, then the financial plans 
for Public Health could be altered and contingency plans would be put in place. In 
the meantime work was underway to reduce costs in the department such as 
focusing on digitising services. 
 

(ii) In response to a question from a member regarding the budget totals showing a 
debit balance it was explained that some of the Public Health Grant was used for 
preventative activities in other departments of the County Council. 

 
Growth 
 
(iii) An assumption had been made that in the subsequent years of the MTFS, the 

Public Health specific grant (or whatever replaced it) would remain at the same level 
as in 2019/20.  
 

 

6



 

 

Savings 
 
(iv) The Director of Public Health stated that he had high levels of confidence that the 

proposed savings as set out in the report could be made and confirmed that the 
savings relating to Integrated Sexual Health, NHS Health Checks and Heart Smart 
had already been achieved. The Director of Public Health was also confident that 
the savings relating to Substance Misuse Treatment Services could be achieved as 
the plans had been developed in a high level of detail. 
 

(v) The savings relating to Homelessness Prevention were not confirmed yet as public 
consultation needed to take place on the proposals; however, the Director of Public 
Health had confidence that the financial modelling was sound. Further work was 
required to be undertaken to establish how the outreach element of the service 
would work.  It was expected that this would be a similar model to the Local Area 
Co-ordinators and the role would include ensuring effective links between the work 
District Councils undertook on homelessness and the wider Public Health work.  

 
(vi) An action plan was currently in place to rationalise staffing levels in the provider arm 

of the Public Health Department.  This could affect Local Area Co-ordinators, 
although overall Leicestershire did have the largest team of Local Area Co-
ordinators in the country.  This fitted with the Department’s ethos around providing 
prevention services in the community and seeking to develop community capacity. 

 
(vii) In response to a query from a member as to why no allowance had been made for 

inflation or cost increases the Director of Public Health explained that when services 
were externally commissioned the provider was expected to meet inflationary 
pressures as part of the contract. The Treasury had also previously made a 
payment directly to NHS providers to account for inflation, although it was unclear 
whether this would continue.  Any additional cost pressures would have to be 
accounted for ‘in year’. 

 
(viii) The planned recruitment freeze for the school nursing service had not yet begun 

therefore the impact on the service was not yet known. It was hoped that the 
introduction of digital tools such as text health and web health, would mitigate 
against any negative impact on the school nursing service. Joint working was taking 
place between the Public Health Department and Children and Family Services to 
ensure that the changes proposed would not have a disproportionate impact on 
certain groups of children such as those with Special Educational Needs.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the report and information now provided be noted; 
 

(b) That the comments now made be forwarded to the Scrutiny Commission for 
consideration at its meeting on 28 January 2019. 

 
53. Active Lives Survey 2018 - Physical Activity Levels in Leicestershire.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided 
information on the results of the latest ‘Active Lives’ survey by Sport England and 
highlighted trends in physical activity in Leicestershire. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 

7



 

 

 
(i) Members raised concerns that children were becoming less active and that if adults 

were not active then their children were likely to follow the same example. Concerns 
were also raised that there were insufficient green spaces in Leicestershire for 
people to exercise in and that any facilities within the boundary of Leicester City 
Council cost more for County residents to use. In response reassurance was given 
that the Public Health Department had invested in fundamental movement skills 
programmes, funded the School Sports Networks in Leicestershire through the 
Public Health Grant and funded LeicesterShire & Rutland Sport to deliver the Daily 
Mile in schools. However, it was acknowledged that there was currently a lack of 
join up between the management of green spaces, LeicesterShire & Rutland Sport 
and the sport and physical activity offer. 

 
(ii) In response to a question from a member it was explained that Mini Mover sessions 

were run by Charnwood Borough Council so the Director of Public Health did not 
have any oversight over how they were facilitated. However, the Public Health 
Department did work with District Councils to provide services such as Nordic 
walking. 

 
(iii) The Department of Public Health worked with the Environment and Transport 

Department to promote active travel. Similar work was being undertaken with district 
councils and housing developers with a view to integrating features into housing 
developments for making residents healthier, however this offer was not yet 
consistent across the county. 

 
(iv) The cyclist Chris Boardman had been tasked by the Mayor of Greater Manchester 

and given a sum of money to improve cycling and walking infrastructure in that 
area. The Director of Public Health was giving consideration to whether similar 
schemes could be adopted in Leicestershire in order to encourage residents to be 
more active.  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted with concern; 
 
(b) That the aims of the Director of Public Health with regards to improving the levels of 

physical activity undertaken by residents of Leicestershire, and instigating a more 
joined up approach to physical activity, be supported. 

 
54. Royal College of Physicians report on Outpatient Appointments.  

 
The Committee considered a report of University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) 
which informed the Committee regarding actions the Trust was taking in response to a 
recently published report by the Royal College of Physicians on Outpatients and provided 
members with an overview of work that was being undertaken to improve Outpatient 
services across the Trust. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed Mark Wightman, Director of Communications & External 
Relations, UHL, and Ket Chudasama, Director of Performance & Corporate Affairs, West 
Leicestershire CCG, to the meeting for this item. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 

8



 

 

(i) The report from the Royal College of Physicians was welcomed by UHL. In the past 
the focus of the Trust had been on acute services, and it was acknowledged that 
action needed to be taken with regards to Outpatient services. The main driver for 
reform was reducing waiting times rather than saving money. UHL delivered over 
900,000 Outpatient appointments per annum and as part of the NHS Long Term 
Plan it was intended to reduce this to 300,000. To achieve this reduction there 
would be a focus on ensuring that patients were seen by the most appropriate 
specialist at their first appointment thereby avoiding the need to attend future 
appointments if they were unnecessary. It was also intended to dispense with 
appointments that had no clinical value. Routine follow up appointments were part 
of the culture of the Trust and this needed to be changed in future with patients 
deciding for themselves whether they needed another appointment. A member 
raised concerns that patients would not have sufficient knowledge to make that 
decision and suggested that information guides should be handed to patients to 
help them decide whether they needed another appointment with a clinician. 
 

(ii) It was intended that in future greater use would be made of the specialist skills that 
GPs and other practitioners such as optometrists had to enable them to conduct 
procedures that would normally be conducted at an Outpatient appointment. 
Additional training would be provided to GPs to make sure they had the skills and 
could carry out the procedures safely. Members raised concerns that this plan of 
action would only move the backlog from Outpatients to GP Practices at a time 
when GP Practices were struggling to meet the growing demand. In response it was 
acknowledged that, without investment in prevention services, demand would 
continue to outstrip supply. However, GP Practices were enthusiastic about this 
opportunity and saw it as a mechanism to make GP Practices more attractive 
places to work. In addition as some of the other practitioners such as optometrists 
were based outside of the Trust, there would be additional capacity for this work.  

 
(iii) In response to a suggestion from a member that Outpatient clinics could be locally 

rather than centrally based, with the clinician travelling to a location convenient for 
the patient, it was explained that the clinics would have to operate at scale and 
there may not be sufficient numbers of patients in each locality to make it feasible. 
Instead it was hoped that the new Planned Care Centre proposed for the Glenfield 
Hospital would enable patients to undergo more than one intervention during the 
same appointment such as blood tests, scans etc. to make the system more 
efficient and economical. 

 
(iv) Members raised concerns regarding the amount of patients that failed to attend 

appointments and questioned how UHL were going to tackle this issue. Members 
suggested that part of the problem was that appointments were often cancelled and 
rearranged and several appointment letters were sent out to patients causing 
confusion. In response it was explained that going forward greater use would be 
made of technology such as with two way text reminders and mobile phone apps. 
UHL were aware that some elderly patients did not use this technology and 
therefore it was hoped that they would receive greater support from the voluntary 
sector and GP Practices. 

 
(v) It was acknowledged by UHL that finding the way to the clinics could be a problem 

for some patients at older hospitals, and paper maps often became out of date quite 
quickly. It was hoped that the ‘way finding’ mobile phone apps which were in 
development would help patients locate their clinics. 

 
 

9



 

 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted; 
 
(b) That officers be requested to produce for a future meeting of the Committee a 

further report regarding outpatient appointments to include performance data 
broken down into individual specialties.   

 
55. Date of next meeting.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 13 March 2019 at 
2:00 pm. 
 
 

2.00  - 3.55 pm CHAIRMAN 
16 January 2019 

 

10



 

 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2019 
 

LLR CANCER PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update as to Cancer Performance for 

Leicestershire and highlight work currently being undertaken to improve cancer 
services for patients. 

  
Background 
 
2. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Cancer Programme is the 

responsibility of Leicester City CCG on behalf of East Leicestershire and Rutland and 

West Leicestershire CCGs. 

 

3. The LLR Cancer Programme is working towards achieving the standards within the 
Achieving World Class Cancer Commissioning Outcomes 2015-2020” strategy. 
These include targets such as: 

 

 Proportion of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2;  

 1 year survival (Aged 15-99); 

 5 year survival (Aged 15-99); 

 Emergency Presentation; 

 Cancer Screening uptake (Breast, Bowel and Cervical). 
 
4. There are a number of key cancer performance standards which CCGs have to meet 

to support patients in receiving care and treatment in a timely manner. Achievement 
of the national cancer waiting times (CWT) standards is considered by patients and 
the public to be an indicator of the quality of cancer diagnosis, treatment and care 
NHS organisations deliver.   

Cancer Standard Target 

Percentage of patients seen within two weeks of an urgent GP referral 

for suspected Cancer 

93% 

Percentage of patients seen within two weeks of an urgent referral for 

breast symptoms where cancer is not initially suspected 

93% 

11 Agenda Item 8



Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 

within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer 

85% 

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 

within 62 days of a referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service 

90% 

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 

within 62 days of a referral from a consultant decision to upgrade their 

priority status 

Not 

applicable. 

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 

within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis 

96% 

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 

31 days where that treatment is surgery 

94% 

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 

31 days where that treatment is anti-cancer drug regime 

98% 

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 

31 days where that treatment is radiotherapy treatment course 

94% 

 
Current performance 
 
5. As per Table 1 the 62 day standard shows there were improvements still to be made.  

Table 1: Cancer Standards and achievement at UHL 
 

 
 

6 There are a number of reasons which contribute to difficulties in achieving the 
national standard for cancer services. As awareness and the need to detect cancer 
early increase so do the number of referrals. There has been an increase of 15.9% 
for 2 week wait (2WW) referrals from GPs for suspected cancers between 2017/18 
and 2018/19.  The increase can be seen in Table 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Indicator

National 

Target

18/19
Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18

LC CCG 78.85% 78.69% 67.24% 70.15% 74.07% 73.02% 68.25% 71.19%

ELR CCG 76.00% 83.00% 83.13% 80.39% 68.89% 69.44% 81.90% 80.00%

WL CCG 82.29% 72.92% 73.53% 77.98% 77.19% 78.89% 77.78% 73.39%

% of patients receiving 1st definitive 

treatment for cancer within 2 months 

(62 days) (MONTHLY) 

The % of patients receiving their first 

definitive treatment for cancer within 

two months (62 days) of GP or dentist 

urgent referral for suspected cancer

85%

12



Table 2: 2 week wait referrals from primary care for cancer investigations 

 

 

7 In East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG in November 2018 there were 1150 patients 
referred for a 2WW referral. The average is normally around 1118 per month.  During 
2018, 85% of all 2WW referrals made each month went to UHL.  In West 
Leicestershire CCG in November 2018 there were 1170 patients referred for a 2WW 
referral. The average is normally around 1205 per month.  During 2018 85% of all 
2WW referrals made each month went to UHL. 

 
8 There have been a number of patients waiting for cancer treatment for over 104 

days. 28 patients were waiting 104+ days  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Month 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Variance Variance %

April 2,817 2,573 3,308 735 28.6%

May 2,748 3,083 3,537 454 14.7%

June 2,786 3,051 3,389 338 11.1%

July 2,569 2,820 3,410 590 18.4%

August 2,828 2,950 3,308 358 17.1%

September 2,762 2,881 3,188 307 16.0%

October 2,683 3,049 3,670 621 16.7%

November 2,941 3,219 3,461 242 15.4%

December 2,422 2,253 2,728 475 15.9%

January 2,810 3,234

February 2,705 2,991

March 3,341 3,129

YTD 24,556 25,879 29,999 4,120 15.9%

TOTAL 33,412 35,233

MONTHLY 2WW REFERRALS (no of referrals received)

2,000

2,200

2,400

2,600

2,800

3,000

3,200

3,400

3,600

3,800

MONTHLY 2WW REFERRALS

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Month 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Variance Variance %

April 2,817 2,573 3,308 735 28.6%

May 2,748 3,083 3,537 454 14.7%

June 2,786 3,051 3,389 338 11.1%

July 2,569 2,820 3,410 590 18.4%

August 2,828 2,950 3,308 358 17.1%

September 2,762 2,881 3,188 307 16.0%

October 2,683 3,049 3,670 621 16.7%

November 2,941 3,219 3,461 242 15.4%

December 2,422 2,253 2,728 475 15.9%

January 2,810 3,234

February 2,705 2,991

March 3,341 3,129

YTD 24,556 25,879 29,999 4,120 15.9%

TOTAL 33,412 35,233

MONTHLY 2WW REFERRALS (no of referrals received)

2,000

2,200

2,400

2,600

2,800

3,000

3,200

3,400

3,600

3,800

MONTHLY 2WW REFERRALS

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

13



Table 3– 104+ days as at 5th January 2019  

 

 

9 Harm reviews are undertaken for all patients who have waited for over 104 days.   
Breach reasons are received and reviewed regularly by commissioners.    Complexity 
is one of the main reasons for patients waiting >104 days.  Each patient waiting >104 
days is managed by the relevant Service to ensure that the patient’s next step is 
booked to ensure they are treated as quickly as possible. 

 
10 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG are performing well and above the national 

average in some areas for cancer.  One of these areas is early diagnosis. There is a 
national standard which states that CCGs need to achieve 62% of all cancers being 
diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 by 2020.  East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG in 2017 
(the most recent published data) were already above the national average at 53% 
(national average was 52%). West Leicestershire CCG is below the average with 
48% of patients being staged at 1 and 2.  

Table 4 – East Leicestershire and Rutland and West Leicestershire Staging 
Data 2012-2017 (dark green is ELRCCG and light green are West Leicestershire 
and Leicester City). 

 

 

 

 

 

14



11 Due to early diagnosis East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG has an excellent one 
year survival rate for cancer with West Leicestershire CCG not being far behind: 

Indicator National Target 
   

2013 2014 2015 

1-year survival 
% of one-year net 
survival from all 
cancers for adults 
diagnosed with cancer 
(aged 15-99) 

75% by 2020 

LC 
CCG 

66.4% 66.8% 67.3% 

ELR 
CCG 

72.2% 72.5% 73.3% 

WL 
CCG 

70.4% 70.9% 71.6% 

 

12 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG and West Leicestershire CCGS are performing 
well against the national cervical cancer screening programmes which both achieved 
79.5% against a target of 80% by 2020. Bowel cancer screening is the area where 
most improvement is required with current achievement of 63% against a target of 
75% for bowel cancer by 2020.  

 
13 In addition there are metrics which are collected for cancer to give CCGs a rating 

called “Improvement and Assessment Framework” (IAF) which measures four 
indicators: 

o Cancers diagnosed at early stage;  

o People with urgent GP referral having definitive treatment for 

cancer within 62 days of treatment;  

o One-year survival from all cancers;  

o Cancer patient experience.  

 

14 Based on the IAF rating received in August 2018 for the year 2017/18 East 
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG were rated as “requires improvement” and West 
Leicestershire CCG were rated as inadequate.  

 

15 The data is taken from national sources between 2015-2017 and work is being 
undertaken constantly to improve the position. The targets for the four IAF criteria 
were as follows: 

o Cancers diagnosed at early stage: 53.5% (national average); 

15



o Treatment within 62 days: 85% (target); 

o One year survival from cancers: 72.4%; 

o Cancer patient experience survey: 8.74%. 

 

What is being done to improve the cancer care and ratings? 

16 There has been a programme of interventions throughout 2018 to improve the cancer 
performance outcomes for patients including: 

o The CCG has issued a Contract Performance Notice to the Trust so they 

have developed a remedial action plan to highlight what actions they can 

take in each tumour group area to improve performance.  

o Development of a Cancer Strategy with the working group having already 

met in December 2018.  

o Development of a 90 day plan to highlight where key areas of improvement 

can be made.  

o A 2019/20 cancer operational Plan to highlight where work needs to be 

undertaken to meet the national standards. 

o Redesign of the 2 week wait leaflet co-produced with patients, clinicians and 

acute trust colleagues in January 2018 to ensure patients attended their 

2WW appointments. It was also translated in eight languages. 

o All GPs have to refer into the acute trust using a NICE accredited electronic 

referral template called PRISM.   

o £336,000 of NHSE funding during 2017/18 to support areas of pressure 

within UHL including additional Oncology clinicians, and updates to Infoflex 

(UHL Cancer Information Management System).  

o A redesign of GP referral forms including Gynaecology, Lower GI, Prostate 

and Colorectal to improve the quality of 2WW referrals into UHL. 

o Change in leadership at UHL to give cancer a higher priority within the Trust. 

o Visit from NHS Improvement Intensive Support Team for gynaecology 

services at UHL. 

o Direct to test for patients in thyroid/neck lumps with a consultant providing a 

diagnosis on the day to the patient after the scan and biopsy have been 

completed.  

o Working with hospitals across the East Midlands to support patients to be 

seen more quickly (e.g. patients from Leicestershire are being offered 

appointments in Peterborough for less complex cases). 

o £1.17m funding from NHSE through the East Midlands Cancer Alliance 

(EMCA) during 2018/19 to support four key areas including: 

o Early Diagnosis 
 Colorectal Cancer Pathway Redesign 

 Lung Cancer Pathway Redesign 

 Prostate Cancer Pathway Redesign 

o Living With Cancer (LWC) 
 Recovery Package 

 Risk Stratified Follow Up 

 

 

16



Pathways - Colorectal: 
 
17 Bowel cancer is the fourth most common cancer in the UK with approximately 41,000 

people per year diagnosed. It is the second most common cause of cancer death 
accounting for 10% of all cancer deaths in the UK (Cancer Research UK, 2014 data). 
Half of all bowel cancer cases are diagnosed at a late stage in England however 
when the disease is diagnosed earlier, more than 9 in 10 people will survive for five 
years (2014 data).  
 

18 NICE guidance (NG12) published in 2015 provided guidance on the urgent referral of 
patients for possible colorectal cancer and guidance on the consideration of faecal 
occult blood testing. The use of FIT does not affect the GP referral process for 
patients who need to be referred immediately on a two-week wait (2ww) pathway for 
suspected colorectal cancer in line with the referral criteria.  FIT offers primary care a 
triage test for symptomatic patients in the lower GI pathway who only have a change 
in bowel habit +/_ abdominal pain.  Only on a positive result would a 2WW Lower GI 
referral be made. 

 

19 Achieving World-Class Cancer Outcomes: Taking the Strategy Forward states: 
‘Earlier diagnosis makes it more likely that patients will receive treatments which can 
cure cancer. It saves lives. Creating the transformational shift to faster and earlier 
diagnosis is dependent on people being aware of and understanding the early signs 
and symptoms of cancer, approaching healthcare services if they have concerns, 
and on healthcare services acting swiftly to diagnose them.’  

 

20 The number of GP urgent referrals made for suspected cancer has risen by 50% in 
the last four years. Recent research carried out by University College London 
Hospitals (UCLH) suggests that using FIT as a diagnostic tool for symptomatic 
patients could help to reduce the current number of colonoscopies carried out by 
40%, which given our local agreed pathway should have a similar impact on the local 
CT colonography demand.  

 

21 FIT as a precursor to the requirement for a 2WW bowel cancer referral was rolled out 
across LLR in February 2018.  

o 3338 patients have gone through the pathway between February and the 

end of December 2018.  

o 2366 (71%) of these had a negative FIT test so there was a 99.7% chance 

they do not have bowel cancer. 

22 Using FIT as a primary care triage tool supports GPs to identify low-risk symptomatic 
patients at risk of colorectal cancer but also has other benefits including:  

o Safer for patients as they do not need to be radiated as with a CT Colon or 

have an invasive procedure with risk of complications e.g. bleeding / 

perforations as with a colonoscopy.  

o Speeds up cancer diagnosis or the absence of cancer helping to achieve the 

target of patients given definitive cancer diagnosis, or all clear, within 28 

days of being referred by a GP. 

o Allows consultant resources to focus on high risk patients. 

o It is evidence based, NICE DG30: Quantitative faecal immunochemical tests 

to guide referral for colorectal cancer in primary care. 

17



o It is part of the East Midlands Cancer Alliance Early Diagnosis programme. 

o Improving patient experience and early reassurance by simpler testing within 

primary care.  

o Financial savings related to the reduction in unnecessary procedures being 

carried out.  

o Improved diagnostic capacity that can be freed up for diagnosing patients 

with higher risk symptoms support the 62-day pathway which in turn is linked 

to access to the transformation funding. 

 
Optimal Lung Cancer Pathway: 
 
23 Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer mortality in England and the world. This 

is because it is common and the majority of people with lung cancer present late 
when treatment has a limited effect on mortality. Although tobacco smoking causes 
around 85% of lung cancers, almost half of people are ex-smokers or never smokers 
at presentation with almost 7000 people who develop lung cancer unrelated to 
smoking each year in the UK (about the same number as for ovarian or stomach 
cancer).  There is good evidence to show that late diagnosis of lung cancer is a 
cause of poor outcomes in England and the UK. In international comparisons, the UK 
lags behind other countries in lung cancer survival and this is mainly explained by 
differences in the early survival (0 to 1 year). Rates of diagnosis through the 
emergency route are also high in England in at around 35% with only 13% of these 
people surviving 1 year, in contrast to over 40% for those diagnosed following fast-
track referral (2013 figures)1.   

 
24 Earlier recognition, chest x-ray and progress to CT scan and rapid further diagnosis, 

fitness assessment and staging is expected to: 

o Increase the number of people with lung cancer who have better 

performance status and are therefore eligible for systemic treatment2.  

o Increase the number of people with earlier stage so that more treatment with 

curative intent can be offered. 

o Increase further, resection rates and rates of radiotherapy with curative 

intent. 

o Improve overall and 1-year survival by a combination of increased resection 

rates. 

o Decrease the number of emergency route diagnoses. 

25 An abnormal chest x-ray which is referred straight to CT of the chest to be completed 
within 72 hours, without going back to the GP, went live at UHL on 21st January 
2019 with a leaflet for health care professionals and patients to accompany the 
changes.  
 

26 The key priorities concern three broad areas: early diagnosis, reducing variation and 
living with and beyond cancer.  This is because poor patient experience, poor 
survival, unacceptable variation and high morbidity result from these. 

 

27 Early diagnosis – this includes public awareness: working in partnership with 

                                                           
1
 NCIN: Routes to diagnosis 2015 update: lung cancer. PHE publications gateway number: 2015640; 2016. 

2
 Sutradhar R, Seow H, Earle C, Dudgeon D, Atzema C, Husain A, Howell D, Liu Y, Sussman J, Barbera L: Modeling the longitudinal 

transitions of performance status in cancer outpatients: time to discuss palliative care. J Pain Symptom Manage 2013, 45:726-
734. 

18



agencies to ensure that any local, coordinated campaigns increase public awareness 
of the symptoms and signs of lung cancer; and recognition and referral. This is 
through the use of primary care based assessment of the risk of lung cancer, such as 
Cancer Mind Maps and abnormal chest x-rays referred by primary care being sent 
immediately to UHL for a CT scan within 72 hours. This will not increase the number 
of patients who require a CT scan but reduce the time patients wait for the scan (in 
Manchester this was reduced by five days).   

Table 3 - Pathway Prior to Day 1: 

 
 

28 Ultimately the lung cancer pathway should decrease the waiting time for patients 
from the current 62 day (or longer) pathway to 42 days. In Manchester where this has 
been rolled out for longer the pathway is now 28 days.  

RAPID Prostate Pathway: 

29 Prostate cancer is the second most common diagnosed cancer in England, and the 
most common cancer diagnosed in men. For prostate cancer patients in England 
diagnosed 2011 to 2015, one-year survival was 96.3%. In 2016, 49.1% of all prostate 
cancers were diagnosed at an early stage. This varied by cancer alliance with a 
range of 39.7-54.5%. Prostate cancer is one of only two cancer types to have seen a 
fall in the rate of early diagnosis (and total number of patients diagnosed at stage 1 
and 2) over the last 2 years. With relatively high survival of prostate cancer the 
impact of late diagnosis is less severe than for other cancers (almost 100% one-year 
survival for stage 3 diagnoses, over 80% for stage 4).  
 

30 Conducting a multi-paramount (mp) MRI before first prostate biopsy improves the 
detection accuracy of clinically significant cancer (PROMIS trial). Approximately 25% 
of patients with suspected prostate cancer had a non-suspicious mp-MRI and 
avoided the need for immediate biopsy (PROMIS). This change in practice will lead 
to a reduction in biopsy-associated risks such as infection.  

 

 

 

 

19



31 The benefits are as follows: 

For patients:  
• Empowerment from information about the diagnostic process provided at point 
of referral;  
• Reduced anxiety and uncertainty of a possible cancer diagnosis, with less time 
between referral and hearing the outcome of diagnostic tests;  
• Improved patient experience from fewer visits to the hospital, particularly with 
‘one stop’ services;  
• Potential to avoid invasive investigations and biopsy-associated risks such as 
infection;  
• Potential for improved survival by using mpMRI for early detection of clinically 
significant cancers (and reduction in over-treatment of clinically insignificant 
cancers).  
 
For clinicians:  
• Using a nationally agreed and clinically endorsed pathway to support quality 
improvement and reconfiguration of prostate cancer diagnostic services;  
• Working across primary and secondary care to ensure high quality referrals into 
a streamlined service that gets the patient to the right place, first time;  
• Improved ability to meet increasing demand and ensure best utilisation of highly 
skilled workforce;  
• Training and development opportunities for radiographers, radiologists, and 
urologists in performing, reporting, and interpreting mpMRI;  
 
For systems:  
• Reduce demand in outpatient clinics;  
• Improved performance against national standards (particularly 62 day 
performance and the new 28 day faster diagnosis standard);  
• Improved quality, safety, and effectiveness of care with reduced variation and 
improvement in outcomes.  
 

32 The pathway will help to support early diagnosis and shortens the pathway to 28 
days.  

 
 

33 The clinical triage is due to go live in March 2019 with the mp-MRI before biopsy for 

20



all patients with a PSA of 4 and above in 2019-20.  

Living with Cancer: 

34 The numbers of people living with and beyond a cancer diagnosis in the UK is set to 
double over the next 20 years. There are key reasons for these statistics: people are 
living longer and therefore more likely to develop cancer within their lifetime – cancer 
is predominantly a disease of older age; more effective treatments mean survival at 1 
and 5 years are improving and more people are being diagnosed earlier. 
 

35 In response to the NHS Five Year Forward View the independent Cancer Taskforce 
published the Achieving world-class cancer outcomes: a strategy for England 2015-
2020 (July 2015). One of the six strategic priorities focuses on the need to transform 
approaches to support people living with and beyond a cancer diagnosis, which 
includes the development of integrated care pathways, stratified follow up and 
implementation of the recovery package by 2020.  

 

36 As of the end of 2010: 

o 6,000 people in LCCCG were living up to 20 years after a cancer diagnosis 

which could rise to 11,700 by 2030. 

o 10,300 in WLCCG were living up to 20 years after a cancer diagnosis which 

could rise to 20,000 by 2030. 

o 9,500 in ELRCCG were living up to 20 years after a cancer diagnosis which 
could rise to 18,500 by 2030. 

 
37 The Living with and Beyond Cancer Project includes the Recovery Package and Risk 

Stratified Follow Up focusing on Lower GI, Breast, Prostate and Lung pathways over 
the next 2 years. Local stakeholder engagement has been established with clinical 
commitment and scoping of current pathways. Patient and carer engagement is also 
well established. 

 

38 The Recovery Package consists of: 

o Health Needs Assessments: UHL NHS Trust is aiming to implement the 

Macmillan electronic HNA system by March 2019. IM&T team have 

committed to support the delivery of this before the end of the financial year. 

Holistic Needs Assessments are now consistently offered at diagnosis to all 

Colorectal, Prostate and Breast patients. Lung patients are offered a HNA 

within 3 to 4 weeks of diagnosis.  

o Treatment Summaries: Will be completed by secondary care at the end of 

every significant intervention and will improve communication between 

primary and secondary care.  

o Cancer Care Reviews:  these are to be completed in primary care six 

months after the completion of treatment to look at what further support the 

patient requires.  

 

 

 

 

21



Current numbers are as follows: 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

England - average 69.3% 70.3% 

LCCCG 56.2% 61.1% 

ELRCCG 66.6% 67.3% 

WLCCG 65.7% 64.9% 

 

o Health and Wellbeing Events: the Macmillan project manager is meeting 

with a broad range of stakeholders to discuss how the Recovery Package 

could be delivered in the community. Best Practice is being looked at and 

existing networks across LLR are being examined to find sustainable options 

to support events such as the HOPE course (currently being delivered by 

UHL HOPE facilitators) and cancer information clinics.  Meetings are taking 

place with potential partners, third sector representatives. Meetings with 

organisations such as Voluntary Action Leicester, Age Concern and Combat 

Cancer have taken place so far. Charities, small self-help organisations and 

volunteer groups on social media are being approached to encourage 

engagement with the ‘Let’s Talk about Cancer’ events and the broader 

conversation of the future of the Recovery Package in LLR.  

 

 
Conclusions 
 
40. There is a vast programme of work surrounding cancer care across Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland which is innovative and transformational.  This will work 
help to both improve patient experience and the time in which care is received 
leading to improved cancer metric performance.  The main areas of focus are: 

o Lung 

o Prostate 

o Colorectal 

o Living with Cancer 

Financial investment has been made to support these areas in improving outcomes for 
patients.  
 

Recommendation 
 

41. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the current cancer 
performance in Leicestershire and the work being done to improve the achievement 
of the national cancer metrics and cancer care commissioned.  
 

Resource Implications 
 
42. None. 

 
 

Background papers 
 
43. None 
 

 

22



Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name:  Mr Paul Gibara 
Telephone: 0116 295 7257 
Email:  paul.gibara@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
None. 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
44. None. 
 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
13TH MARCH 2019 

 
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTER AND HEALTHWATCH 

LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

WINTER HEALTH MESSAGES 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of the results of a review of the 

effectiveness of public health messages issued throughout winter 2018/2019 which 
was undertaken by Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire. 

  
Background 

 
2. This report has been completed following the specific engagement with members of 

the public through Healthwatch. 
 
Conclusions 

 
3. See appendix. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
4. Not applicable 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Winter Health messages - Draft report 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5. (This is the only mandatory impact assessment) - NA 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
6. NA 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
7. NA 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
8. NA 

 

25 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Winter health messages – DRAFT report 

 

Introduction  

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire act as the voice of the public in the delivery of 

health and social care services. To do this we collect feedback from residents of Leicester and 

Leicestershire about their experiences of using health and social care services.  

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire have identified winter health messages as 

one of their work priorities and this report considers the messages that members of the public have 

seen and their effectiveness in supporting people to look after their health in winter.  

 

Methodology  

A qualitative methodology was used for this Healthwatch project. Three focus groups were 

undertaken during December 2018 and January 2019, with two being undertaken in Leicester City 

Centre and one taking place in Loughborough.  

Focus groups were chosen as they give an opportunity to explore the experiences and opinions of 

the participants in more depth than is possible using quantitative survey methods.  Over the three 

focus groups there were 17 participants.  

The focus groups were recorded with the consent of the participants and then transcribed. The 

transcriptions were analysed using thematic analysis. Our report has been developed using the key 

themes from the analysed feedback.  

 

 

Themes  

Flu Vaccinations  

The most common themes that participants discussed related to the flu vaccine. This suggests that 

the messages about having the vaccine have been amongst the most effective winter health 

messages. One participant commented that the information on the flu vaccine was ‘probably the 

only thing I have seen’ whilst another said that they had ‘not seen anything except the flu jab’.  

 However, participants raised issues that suggest that whilst the message about having the flu 

vaccine has been broadly effective there are other issues with the information that the public 

receive about the flu vaccine.  

 

Side effects 

There was wide discussion about both the alleged and experienced side effects of the flu vaccine. 

 It was felt by a number of the participants that there needed to be more information about what 

the potential side effects of the flu vaccine are in order for them to make an informed choice about 

27



 

 

whether they wanted to take it. One participant commented that ‘they tell you to take the flu 

[vaccine] but they don’t tell you the side effects.’ 

It was evident from the comments that were made in the focus groups that in the absence of full 

information from official sources other less reliable information was being shared amongst members 

of the public with one commenting that someone in the waiting room had said ‘don’t have it’ 

because there was ‘mercury in it’. Another commented that they ‘don’t like that there is no 

information about what it actually is’. There was discussion about whether the flu vaccine could give 

recipients the flu after they had it with some saying that they had experienced flu like symptoms and 

one commenting that the side effects that they had experienced in the past had ‘made me not very 

well, so I stopped for a few years.’  

Others commented that they had experienced side effects following their vaccination and that some 

of the information they had received had not prepared them for the level of side effects that they 

had experienced. One participant commented that they had been told that ‘your arm was going to 

be a bit uncomfortable’ and what they had actually experienced was ‘more than uncomfortable. It 

was very painful, right down my arm.’  

 

Eligibility for vaccine   

There was a broad understanding of the eligibility for the free flu vaccine, although there were some 

participants who had experienced confusion about eligibility, such as what age group were entitled 

to a free vaccination and what groups other than those eligible through their age could have a flu 

vaccination, such as carers. One participant commented that she had thought that she was entitled 

and when she had found she was not was ‘asked if I want one anyway.’ She felt that this was 

confusing because ‘if the government don’t think I need it, then why should I have one? Nobody’s 

been able to answer me that one.’ She felt that the motive for offering a vaccine to those who were 

not eligible for a free vaccine was financial saying that ‘at the back of your mind is [that] ‘because 

you’re going to get £12 for it.’ So, do I need one or not?’ 

So, whilst there was a general consensus in the groups that they had seen information urging people 

to get vaccinated and most who were eligible for the free vaccine had done so there were still some 

reservations about potential side effects that could be overcome with more accessible messaging. 

This would help to overcome some of the negative messages that are passed by word of mouth 

about alleged side effects and concerns about what is in the vaccine.   

 

 

Children  

Very few of the participants appeared to have regular contact with children who were eligible to 

receive the vaccine. However, they were widely aware that primary school age children were eligible 

to receive the vaccine.  

One participant did have children and expressed misgivings about the vaccine because they did not 

know what was in the vaccine and that this was a matter of concern. They said that ‘I didn’t like that 

you just got a letter sent home and you had to fill the form in’.  They went on to say that they had 

felt under pressure to let their child have the vaccine with the school chasing them for the reply slip. 

They commented that however, this year they had not had any communication regarding the 

28



 

 

vaccine this winter saying, ‘we heard they didn’t have it this year, unless they had it without me even 

knowing.’  

Others commented upon children receiving the vaccine in terms of them being identified as 

potential carriers of the flu rather than because they needed protecting from the impact of the flu in 

their own right with one commenting that ‘ I think their long term plan is to keep increasing the age 

for the school children that can have them, because they are the main carriers.’  It may be helpful for 

messages to make clear that children should be vaccinated because of the potential side effects of 

contracting flu in order to encourage more wide spread understanding as to why children are 

targeted to be vaccinated.  

Over 65’s  

It was widely known that people over the age of 65 are eligible for the free flu vaccine. However, the 

use of a specific vaccine for this winter was a matter of some discussion. For some of the 

participants it was not clear why there was a different vaccine for the over 65’s as this had not been 

widely communicated. 

There were some humorous comments about why this was the case with one participant 

commenting ‘I was little paranoid about that actually. Oh, there’s a special one for over 65’s.’  but 

more seriously it was felt that there was a lack of information for the public on why it was the case 

that there was a different vaccine for their age group.  

 

Other vaccinations  

Participants mentioned other vaccinations that they may be eligible for through the NHS. The 

pneumonia vaccine was a topic of discussion in one focus group with one participant telling how 

they had needed to ask for the vaccine and push to be able to have it. They commented that ‘I had 

to battle to get mine from my GP. The first time I asked it was I was not ill enough.’  

There was some confusion about eligibility for the pneumonia vaccine and it was not widely known 

of; one participant said, ‘If you’re over a certain age you might be entitled to it.’ Whilst another 

commented that ‘they don’t promote it.’  

Likewise, one focus group spoke about the vaccine for shingles and the criteria to be eligible for the 

vaccine. One participant commented that they were a ‘bit worried because my friends said it had 

very bad side effects; and I thought ‘oh God, what kind?’  Another commented about what age they 

had to be to be eligible ‘someone said I’d got to have it by, I’m 72, and you can only be 71 or 

something.’  

Whilst this is not strictly related to winter health it again demonstrates that eligibility for vaccines on 

the NHS are not always clear even to those that are eligible to receive them and that there are gaps 

in knowledge about potential side effects that act as a disincentive to having the vaccines.  

 

Antibiotics campaign  

There was some discussion around the antibiotics campaign, but this was prompted by the facilitator 

asking directly about it. Once prompted some participants could recall seeing it, with one 

commenting that it had ‘that ridiculous in your head song’. Another said that they had seen the 

advert on television but that ‘mostly when I see these things, I just hit the skip button’.  

29



 

 

The comment about skipping adverts on television is particularly pertinent when considering how 

messages can be more effectively conveyed. It was suggested that more television advertising 

should be used but it is questionable how effective this would be if more people watch television 

without the adverts.  

 

Keeping warm  

Participants spoke of past campaigns that they were aware of including ‘keep warm, keep well’. 

Keeping warm was a key point for participants in terms of what they could do to keep well in the 

winter, and most were aware that there was an optimum temperature for their homes to be kept to. 

They also commented on what they could do to keep their homes warm such as ‘turn the radiators 

up’ and ‘put up thicker curtains.’ 

However, some participants spoke of issues that they were aware of or had experienced that 

impacted on being able to keep their homes warm, particularly the financial cost of heating fuel. One 

commented that messages about heating the home could be unhelpful saying ‘don’t worry about 

the fuel bills, some people go hungry because they can’t afford it.’ Another said that they had had 

heating put in after a long time without heating and commented that ‘the only problem is the cost. 

They got me to turn down the radiators or off because it’s horrendous.’  

 

 

Pharmacy  

The use of pharmacies instead of the GP in the first instance was recognised as a message that a 

number of participants had seen and acted upon. However, the feedback on their experiences of 

using the pharmacists instead of the GP was mixed.  

For some participants there was a sense that the pharmacists were risk averse and would simply 

refer them back to their GP anyway. One commented that ‘if you go in and say have you got 

anything for this? They say no- go to your doctor. Which is a safe way of doing it in a way.’ Another 

said that ‘the pharmacy, to cover themselves, will say ‘oh, I think that you’d better go to A&E’’  

 For others there was concern that the pharmacists were under pressure as well and that going to 

them first was unsustainable. One commented that ‘I don’t think that they’ve got the time anyway. 

Pharmacists haven’t, not nowadays.’ However, another commented that ‘mine is very, very busy, 

but they will always make time for you… they’ll always help you out and everything.’  

 

NHS 111 

There was some discussion of using NHS 111 rather than going to the GP or Accident and 

Emergency. It was clear that people recognised the messages to use NHS 111 and one commented 

that they had seen the message ‘on the buses.’  

However, there were mixed experiences of using the service which impacted on the willingness of 

participants to use it in future. One commented that their family had been ‘using that number and 

when it’s been necessary, we’ve been given an appointment at the Royal. So that’s worked well.’ 

30



 

 

Whereas another said that it had not worked well ‘in my husband’s case because they don’t know 

what he’s got. In the end they went ‘don’t know what to do, we’ll send an you an ambulance out.’ 

 

 

Support  

When participants were asked whether they felt supported to look after their health in the winter a 

number of them said that they did not feel supported. One said that they felt that they were not 

supported in their role as a carer commenting that ‘I don’t actually feel supported at all.’  

Others said that they had support from their families with one commenting that their ‘grandson got 

out of bed to look after me and my partner’ but for others it was felt that ‘we don’t normally now 

live within a community of our family and friends. They’re all over the place, so no I don’t feel 

supported at all really.’  

For one participant living alone was a source of anxiety in relation to looking after their own health 

and they felt that they had a lack of support because of living alone. The commented that ‘it’s great 

worry to me, you know, when you live on your own. You haven’t got any relatives and it’s worrying. 

If I break my leg or anything, what I’ll do.’  

 

Message visibility  

The visibility of messages was an area for discussion for the focus groups both in terms of what they 

had seen during this winter and also how messages could be disseminated effectively.  

 

Beyond the messages that participants had seen about the flu vaccine, it was commented that there 

had not been as many messages seen this winter. One said ‘there doesn’t seem to have been the 

‘keep warm, keep well’ type message. Have I just missed it?’  This was particularly marked amongst 

the participants from the focus group that took place in the County. They commented that they felt 

there had been fewer winter health messages this year than there had been in the past saying, 

‘there doesn’t seem to have been as much here, because this is often a place where people come 

with health messages.’ It was commented that this may be because ‘it’s not been very cold has it, 

thinking about it?’   

For one participant it was felt that there was a reduction in the messages because there were ‘too 

many’ older people and it was a deliberate act to reduce the number of messages. 

It was also suggested that the fact that messages had not been noticed could be due to the location 

of messages, not reaching the places that the target audiences for the messages were likely to be. 

One participant said, ‘if you haven’t noticed it, then it isn’t enough is it, in the right place?’  

 

 

Participants from the focus groups in the city were better able to recall seeing winter health 

messages and detailed places such as in GP surgeries, pharmacies and on public transport although it 

31



 

 

was commented that the information in a GP practice was ‘a very small notice, in small type on the 

wall.’  

However, they had other suggestions for where messages could be more effective and reach a wider 

audience. One participant spoke about the use of the media to help promote health messages, again 

with a focus on messages around flu vaccines, commenting that ‘it would be useful, the [One] 

programme last night, apparently the lady presenter announced that she was pregnant. Now if she’d 

said she’s had the flu jab, that would be helpful.’  They spoke about the approach in the United 

States where state news anchors were vaccinated live on air. However, there was little knowledge of 

the poster campaign using Trevor McDonald to promote the take up of the flu vaccine that made use 

of the approach of using well known public figures.  

Impact of messages  

For some participants it was felt that the messages that they have seen have lost their impact 

because they have become so familiar. It was commented that ‘most of the messages that they give 

to people our age, they’re pretty basic, aren’t they? We already know, don’t we to be honest.’ 

Although it was acknowledged that there was a need for some messages because ‘we do have 

excess winter deaths in Britain…so there is something about people looking after themselves. So, 

although I am sure most people are sensible, there may be messages that are important.’  

For one other participant it was expressed that the messages about the flu vaccine made them feel 

less like they wanted to have it saying ‘it’s just you need to go and have this. That almost makes you 

feel ‘well I don’t want to.’’ For another participant it was felt that ‘there are gaps between what 

you’re told and what you can do.’  

 

 

 

 

 

Conclusions  

In conclusion it was possible to see that the messages to have the flu vaccination were widely 

recognised and, in many respects, effective as most participants who were eligible for the vaccine 

taken it up. However, there still some key issues with information about the reasons why specific 

groups were targeted, and particularly the potential side effects of the vaccine.  

For other types of vaccines, there was a lack of knowledge of what was available and who was 

eligible to have the vaccines which has the potential for some people who lack some knowledge 

already missing out on preventative healthcare.  

The campaign around antibiotics needed to be prompted with the groups before it was recognised, 

and comments were generally less positive around the television advert. There was little recognition 

of other methods of dissemination which calls into question how visible the campaign has been.  

‘Keep warm, keep well’ was recognised as a winter health message and had been taken on board by 

most participants, although it was recognised that there had been no such campaign this winter. 

32



 

 

However, although participants were aware of the campaign there was recognition that for some 

people it was not possible to follow the advice because of cost implications around fuel costs.  

Messages about using the pharmacy or NHS 111 as a first port of call were recognised and 

participants generally said that they had largely followed the advice. However, there was mixed 

feedback about using those alternative services with a particular focus on pharmacies not giving 

advice and referring on to GPs or Accident and Emergency. 

When participants were asked if they felt supported to look after their own health during the winter 

participants related particularly to family support and those that did not have that kind of support 

reported that they did not feel that there was support available to them.  

Although there was recognition of some winter health messages, there were comments that there 

seemed to be fewer of them this winter than there had been in the past and that they were perhaps 

less visible. There were suggestions that there should be wider advertising and also seek the support 

of the media in using well known public figures to front campaigns including promoting health 

messages through other programming. However, there was no reference to the campaign that has 

been fronted by Trevor McDonald by participants which would call into question the impact of this 

approach.  

It was also suggested that some of the messages were becoming less impactful because they were 

basic and had been around for a long time, but at the same time a recognition that they had a place 

in trying to reduce harm from winter conditions. There were also comments that repeated messages 

that felt like commands to have the flu vaccine actually had a negative effect on the take up for 

some people.  

Overall, it was clear that messages about having the flu vaccine for eligible groups were largely 

recognised but other types of messages were not as widely visible.  

 

Recommendations  

• Whilst there was wide knowledge of the flu vaccine and most eligible participants has taken 

it up, there were issues raised in relation to why particular groups were eligible, what the 

vaccine is and side effects. Therefore, it is recommended that more information is provided 

in an accessible way to alleviate some concerns.  

 

• There was a lack of knowledge of other types of vaccine that participants may be eligible for. 

Therefore, it is recommended that information about eligibility for other vaccinations such 

as shingles and pneumonia should be improved and made more accessible for those that 

may be eligible.  

 

 

• There was wide recognition of the keep warm messages from previous winters. However, 

participants identified potential barriers to following the advice in relation to costs. 

Therefore, it is recommended that consideration is given to ways that there can be more 

advice on keeping warm that recognises potential cost barriers to turning the heating up.  

 

33



 

 

• Participants were aware of messages about using pharmacies rather than GPs for minor 

issues but had had mixed experiences with those services. Therefore, it is recommended 

that there is clear information provided about the remit of the pharmacists and at what 

point patients would be referred to their GP or elsewhere.   

 

• A number of participants said that they did not feel supported to look after their health in 

the winter. Therefore, it is recommended that more information is provided about support 

that is available for people to keep well in winter, particularly for older people, those with 

mental health conditions and carers.  

 

• There was feedback that messages had not been particularly visible this winter and 

therefore have had questionable impact. Therefore, it is recommended that consideration is 

given to where messages are; the form that they take; making use of different types of 

media and making use community groups and centres.  

 

34



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
13 MARCH 2019 

 
REPORT OF LLR HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM 

 
LLR URGENT AND EMERGENCY CARE RESILIENCE & WINTER 

2018/19 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update and overview of performance 

over the 2018/19 winter period to date across the Leicester City, Leicestershire 
and Rutland (LLR) Urgent and Emergency Care system. The paper begins the 
process of the review of Health performance over the winter period and the 
success of plans to date, and includes a brief reflection of performance last 
winter, what was learnt, what we did about it, and the impact to ensure we have 
more resilient health and social care services for patients and the population it 
serves.  Given the timing of the year, the report is not a comprehensive review 
of the winter period but instead a stepping stone for a review being planned to 
take place in May 2019. 

 
System Performance Winter 2017/18 – What happened Last Year? 
 
2. The winter of 2017/18 saw the local urgent and emergency care (UEC) system 

under intense pressure, resulting in poor patient experience and weak 
performance against national targets.  A&E performance is typically known to 
drop in Dec, Jan & Feb each year, and this deterioration started in November 
and did not cease, with continuation through to March; it was particularly 
intense from February to April through the Easter Holidays. 

 

 Hospital A&E 4-hour performance overall was below standard with an annual 
position of 77.7% (79% the previous year), and the performance of A&E 
waiting times deteriorated sharply from October onwards, dipping to a low of 
66.9% in March with primary clinical focus on major conditions.  
 

 Due to the number of emergency surgical cases exceeding normal levels, 
critical care / intensive care units were often full, which resulted in high 
numbers of cancelled surgical cases, some of which were regrettably cancer 
cases. Occasional staff sickness/absence impacted upon the ability to 
maintain full use of critical care beds. 
 

 Bed occupancy was high throughout much of the winter period.  This means a 
lack of free beds, which has a knock-on effect on internal patient flow from 
admissions areas, often resulting in long trolley waits. Many working days 
started with patients waiting for beds to become free (often termed “negative 

35 Agenda Item 10



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

bed capacity”).  On any given day we had up to 200 patients in hospital for 
more than 21 days, and were not as proactive as we could have been to 
reduce patient length of stay and the number of long stay patients. 
 

 High numbers of medical “outliers,” (medical patients in a bed not designated 
for medical patients e.g. on a surgical ward) which only started to improve 
towards the end of March. Delivering care to patients spread across a number 
of wards is less efficient for clinical teams.  The length of stay for medical 
patients at LRI increased by nearly two days from January to March 2018. 
 

 Higher than average “non-admitted breaches” (patients who were in ED for 
more than 4-hours (i.e. breached the standard) but were not admitted into 
hospital.  Delays for such patients are often due to the demand on diagnostic 
services, although preventing an unnecessary admission can often reflect a 
better outcome for the patient.  
 

 Patients with Norovirus and/or flu resulted in many closed beds on a regular 
basis, at both UHL and LPT.   
 

 There was a higher number of elective (i.e. planned care) cancellations last 
winter in comparison with 2016/2017 following a national instruction to all 
acute Trusts, as well as exceptional levels of cancellations of urgent and 
cancer operations.   
 

 Activity in out-of-hospital services, including Urgent Care Centres, Primary 
Care Hubs, Home Visiting and Clinical Navigation services, was higher than 
forecast and higher than in winter 2016/17.  This at times created significant 
pressure in these services but they were successful in preventing a significant 
increase in ED attendances.   
 

 NHS111 demand rose significantly, dealing with 30% more calls than we had 
planned for in the period of January to March 2018.   
 

 Ambulance services remained stretched and were regularly at a high 
escalation level during winter; patient handover times were higher than 
expectation (within 15 minutes), particularly from November through to March, 
although there were fewer 1 hour+ waits than in 2016/2017, and fewer total 
‘lost hours.’ 

 

 Staffing levels were particularly challenged over winter across all providers.  In 
particular, medical and nurse staffing levels in hospital were variable with a 
higher than average sickness/absence rate during peak periods of demand. 
 

 Although a flu jab campaign was marketed and communicated, the uptake of 
flu jabs by members of the public and staff was not as high as it could be. 
 

 Processes vary across providers which influences local decision making, and 
there are benefits to more standardisation. 

36



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
3. In short, both patient experience and system performance were extremely 

challenging in 2017/18, and lessons were learnt and applied in 2018/19.  
Actions were taken and improvements were implemented.  Although operational 
winter pressures remain challenging, the work to date has resulted in an 
improved position year to date. 

  
 
System Performance Winter 2018/19 – What’s Happened This Year? 
 
4. Lessons learnt were incorporated into system plans and priorities during the 

summer of 2018, and the winter plan further built on these to reduce the risk of 
similar problems for 2018/19.  This included a large number of actions, the 
realignment of bed capacity at UHL to accommodate expected non 
elective/emergency demand, as well as plans to ensure safe care, manage and 
mitigate any forecast bed gaps, ensuring efficient discharge and transfer 
processes, and working with system partners.   

 
A&E 4 hour wait performance 
 
5. Hospital A&E 4-hour performance overall has remained below the 95% 4 hour 

standard, however both UHL and the system have shown signs of improvement 
amongst a significant rise in demand and attendances by both walk in patients 
and ambulance conveyances.  Statistically in 2018/19: 

 
• Nationally - approximately 9/137 A&E departments routinely meet the 

95% standard; 
• Regionally – approximately 1/37 A&E departments routinely meets the 

95% standard; and  
• Locally – the LLR system ambition is to achieve a trajectory of 85% 

based on past performance and step changed improvement. 
 

 
6. The Year to date (as at 22/02/19) performance is 77.9% (UHL) and 83.1% 

(LLR system).  This represents a marginal improvement at a time where 
demand has increased significantly across urgent and emergency care 
services.  

 
• UHL performance for January reflecting increased demand was 73.5% and 

LLR system performance was 79.7% against a planned trajectory of 85.7%. 
January was a significantly challenging month, with February seeing a 
significant improvement. 

 
• In January 2019 the trust saw a total of 21,624 ED and Eye Casualty 

attendances. In comparison to January 2018 (19908) this is an increase of 
1,560 patients (8%). Year to Date there has been a 5.5% increase in 
attendances to A&E compared to the same point last year. 
 

37



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
Table 1: 2018/19 performance comparison 

 
 

Ambulance Handover Delay Performance 
 
7. The national standard is that Ambulance Handovers at hospital should be within 

15 minutes of arrival, and are measured and monitored based on the time when 
an ambulance arrives to A&E and the time when the ambulance leaves.  These 
include pre-handover to the hospital clinical team, the length of time for the 
actual handover, as well as the post-handover or the time between when the 
patient was handed over and the ambulance crew left the site.   

 
8. Regionally, the average percentage of handovers over 15 minutes and not 

meeting the standard is 55%.  That means that 55% of all patients arriving by 
ambulance are not handed over to hospital clinical teams within 15 minutes, as 
per the national standard.  This is a major focus for the LLR system this year, 
particularly as the Leicester Royal Infirmary (LRI) is one of the busiest hospitals 
and A&E departments in the country, and has the highest ambulance arrivals in 
the region.  

 
9. Overall, delays have marginally improved in comparison with the same time last 

year whilst the average number of ambulance conveyances per day on average 
has increased by 5% (18 per day), and on occasion A&E sees over 200 
ambulances. However, over the new year and in January 2019 there were 
significant volumes of patients taken to hospital by ambulance due to the level 
of acuity and the system was extremely challenged impacting both performance 
and patient experience. 

 
 

38



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Ja
n-
1
7

Fe
b
-1
7

M
ar
-1
7

A
p
r-
17

M
ay
-1
7

Ju
n
-1
7

Ju
l-
17

A
u
g-
17

Se
p
-1
7

O
ct
-1
7

N
o
v-
17

D
ec
-1
7

Ja
n-
1
8

Fe
b
-1
8

M
ar
-1
8

A
p
r-
18

M
ay
-1
8

Ju
n
-1
8

Ju
l-
18

A
u
g-
18

Se
p
-1
8

O
ct
-1
8

N
o
v-
18

D
ec
-1
8

Ja
n-
1
9

Fe
b
-1
9

Leicester Royal Infirmary 
Total Handovers vs % Handovers over 15 mins

No Of Vehicles At Hospital % Delayed Over 15 mins

 
10. An immediate action plan was put in place, and February’s performance has 

seen major improvement following LLR interventions.  There is confidence that 
the processes in place will prevent the level of escalation seen in March/April 
2018 with continued improvement and reduced delays. 
 

11. The LRI continues to have the highest number of ambulance conveyances to 
hospital and thus handovers in the region (average of 188/day), and in February 
the LRI appears to have had the highest percentage of handovers within 
15mins in the region; 

 
12. The number of ambulance handovers in February 2019 was 4% higher than 

February 2018.  The handover performance improved greatly in February 2019.  
52% of handovers were completed within the 15 min standard, which is a 15% 
improvement from January and 23% better than February last year.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

39



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) 
 
13. LLR continues to maintain excellent health and social care performance as one 

of the best in the country for patients in low numbers of delayed transfers of 
care:   

 

 The national DTOC average is 10.5% 

 Leicestershire county average is 6.3% as at Oct18 

 Leicester city average is 5.3% as at Oct18 

 Rutland average is 5.4% as at Oct 18 
 
 
 

Delayed Transfers of Care Rates (UHL and LPT) 

 
 
 
Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) 

 
14. The level of pressure across health and social care systems are measured and 

modelled on the Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) framework to 
ensure appropriate action can be taken dependent upon the situation/s.  The 
highest level of pressure is OPEL 4, and the lowest as OPEL 1 or business as 
usual.  Extensive work was carried out across LLR over 2018/19 to avoid the 
same challenges from previous years including shortcomings in information-
sharing and how communications are managed both within organisations 
internally, as well as across the system from one organisation to another.  With 
new processes, tools, and training, teams have worked diligently to manage 
escalations more consistently: 
 

15. For 2017/18 LLR / UHL over the winter period 1 October to 31 March was:  
 

• At OPEL 1 for 0/182 days  
• At OPEL 2 for 17/182 days (9%) 
• At OPEL 3 for 137/182 days (75%) 
• At OPEL 4 for 26/182 days (14%) 
• LLR was slow in noticing triggers of escalation and de-escalation 

was limited. 

40



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
16. In 2018/19 LLR / UHL with new processes and business as usual (BAU) defined 

in August/September, and demand exceeding last year’s winter demand levels, 
LLR / UHL has rarely been above OPEL 2 demonstrating improved process and 
effective action since 1 October.  The LLR system has outperformed the 
majority of systems across the region in managing escalation and where 
required, de-escalation: 

 
• At OPEL 1 for 8/123 days to end Jan19 (6%) 
• At OPEL 2 for 79/123 days to end Jan19 (64%) 
• At OPEL 3 for 32/123 days to end Jan19 (26%) 
• At OPEL 4 for 4/123 days to end Jan19 (3%) 

 
17. The transition in declared OPEL levels is important as it differentiates the 

maturity of organisations and the system, as well as the level of action required 
across organisations to build greater resilience.  For example, daily 
indicator/escalation reports are established for monitoring daily sitrep 
performance, including performance, capacity, and key indicators of pressure 
which further reduces confusion during periods of high pressure. 

 
18. Generally whilst demand has been higher than the same time last year, 

performance has not seen the same significant challenges as in 2017/18 and 
has seen stabilisation during periods of surge;  

 
o There has been a low number of elective or time critical cancellations with the 

introduction of a new system of clinical prioritisation alongside and capacity 
management. 

o There have been zero 12-hour trolley breaches in A&E. 
o There has been very minimal ‘corridor care’ due to extreme pressures. 
o Occupancy rates have not exceeded 95% overall. 

 
 
Major Causes of Pressure 
 
19. In such a complex system, there are consistent themes year-on-year with 

several factors contributing to the pressures: 
 

 Pressure across all parts of the system – in GP practices, GP Primary Care 
Hubs, Urgent Care Centres, 111 calls, Clinical Navigation Services, 
Ambulances Services, ED and within the hospitals.  Hospital activity levels 
overall and emergency admissions are comparable to past years overall, but 
there are changes to the type of patient, and how unwell they were, with very 
high numbers of cardio-respiratory cases and paediatric cases in particular.   
 

 Analysis to date confirms the pressures are not generally caused only by the 
number of admitted patients, but by how acutely unwell they were and how 
long they needed to be in hospital.  Many of these were older or frail patients, 
which have been better managed this year following the opening of the Acute 

41



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Frailty Unit as well as the Frailty programme initiated in summer of 2018.  
Generally across Leicestershire and Rutland, older people make up 
approximately 20% of the population, yet at the height of the pressures, 80% 
of hospital beds were occupied by this group.  The frailty initiatives have 
improved the way this cohort of patients are managed overall, and has largely 
helped to lessen the growth of demand in light of more people living longer 
and thus also requiring health and social care services for longer. 
 

 
A&E Demand 
 
20. There has been an emerging trend (upward) in attendances into A&E since 

September. Despite a small reduction in referrals in December, there was an 
unusually high level of attendances in injuries, Child Majors and the Children 
hospital (for Child Specialty). 
 

21. Whilst the proportion of attendances via ambulance has grown significantly, so 
has the overall volume of attendances. With resource and professionals moved 
to prioritise the acutely unwell ambulance arrivals this has meant there 
unfortunately have been occasions of long waits in injuries and primary care 
impacting 4 hour wait performance.  

 

 
 
 
22. This is mirrored by an increase in attendance and utilisation of out of hospital 

urgent care services, as well as contacts into 111 and GP practice 
appointments. 

 
 
Key Actions Taken in 2018/19 
 
23. The key actions taken in 2018/19 were as follows: 
 

42



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 Focused review and revision of the system Escalation Plan. The Leicester 
City, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) Urgent and Emergency Care 
Resilience Plan 2018/19 is currently under development in collaboration with 
key stakeholders across the city and county.  This has enabled a ‘one plan 
approach’ across organisations and sets out the features / signs of increasing 
levels of pressure for each organisation and what the response from 
themselves and other partners will be as a consequence.  An effective and 
well-managed plan has remained key to ensuring we all take the right steps to 
manage the pressure but also ensures that the system can recover quickly 
(“bounce back”) once pressure begins to decrease.  This improved 
communication and collaboration has been a contributing factor to improved 
performance and stability, and established the necessary regimented 
discipline amongst the people and professionals who will be working within 
periods increasing pressure. 

 

 The second part of the ED development at UHL opened in summer 2018, 
which provides improved patient assessment areas.  This allows more 
investigations to be carried out to reach an early diagnosis, give rapid 
treatment and ideally prevent the need for admission to a ward. In addition, 
UHL re-aligned their bed capacity overall and created additional ward capacity 
to meet the expected increase in medical patient demand. 

 

 UHL increased non-elective inpatient bed capacity.  When agreeing the 
contracts for 2018/19, the CCGs and UHL worked together as a first step to 
forecast in detail how much emergency capacity is required.  We then agreed 
how and when the elective (planned) activity will be delivered through the 
year, including how many operations may need to be delivered by other 
providers, so that we can protect and maximise the number of emergency 
beds.  Two additional inpatient wards increased bed capacity for non-elective 
activity, and a modular ward was established at Glenfield in February to 
support additional capacity for respiratory patients. 
 

 LLR focus on reducing the number of ‘long-stay patients,’ or patients in 
hospital up to and over 21 days, by up to 25% overall, from 202/day to 
155/day.  This particularly included a person-centred approach to support 
patients in their journey and ensure they were on the most appropriate 
discharge pathway.  It should be noted that LLR has one of the best levels of 
performance for both long stay patients (at or less than 200 on any given day) 
as well as one of the best delayed transfers of care (DTOC) performance in 
the country, and as a result is an extremely challenging ambition.  To date, 
LLR is above trajectory and achieving 165/day average, representing a 17.5% 
reduction or improvement. 
 

 A Digital Minor Illness Referral Service (DMIRS) was established and 
launched across LLR in December, which enables NHS 111 to refer patients 
direct to community pharmacies for less urgent and minor illnesses.  Up to 
1000 patients have now been referred to pharmacies instead of historically 
being referred to either their GP, an urgent treatment centre, or A&E.   

43



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 

 Work continues to increase the access to IT systems so that clinicians are 
able to see the patient’s clinical record (where permission has been given) to 
improve decision-making.  This is through an increase in the number of 
patients who have agreed for their Summary Care Record to be seen, which in 
turn supports more informed clinical assessments and treatments. 

 

 New, improved protocols are agreed between UHL and EMAS to manage 
better the handover of emergency patients when they arrive at hospital via 
ambulance.   

 

 Improved communication systems developed between consultants and 
GPs to give advice and guidance about patients’ care and whether or not they 
need hospital. 

 

 We have worked with Public Health and NHS England to deliver a proactive 
response to seasonal flu and generally improve and update infection 
control procedures.  We implemented a publicity campaign to raise 
awareness and encourage uptake of flu vaccines with the public, and a 
campaign to encourage uptake of the vaccine within eligible groups and 
frontline staff. There were some issues related to the availability of and the 
logistics of flu vaccinations which will be evaluated with NHS England later this 
year. 

 

 We are introduced a “Red Bag scheme” for care homes, which has been 
shown to work elsewhere.  The bag is used to keep all the patient’s essential 
items together including medication, personal items etc. and which can be 
transported with the patient if they are admitted. The scheme was slow to 
mobilise due to some infection control guideline concerns, and subsequently 
required an alternative approach.  Initial evaluation has shown that care home 
admissions are significantly reduced, which has reduced the number of red 
bags in use.   

 

 We have supported more patients to understand and manage their 
conditions.  For instance with respiratory patients, we have worked to ensure 
that they are accurately identified on the clinical systems, that they have a 
care plan setting out their condition, treatment and what to do if it worsens and 
to ensure they have “rescue packs” i.e. antibiotic prescriptions etc. to allow 
them to start treatment and prevent admission.  We have priorities messages 
of cold weather warnings, pollution alerts, and these patients are flagged with 
EMAS in the event of 999 calls and are supported by a dedicated community 
specialist team and ongoing education programme for professionals, patients 
and carers.   

 

 There are improved discharge pathways with a larger, multi-agency 
integrated discharge team (IDT) within UHL which supports both discharge 
and admission avoidance.  These pathways and team aim to get patients out 
of hospital and either back home or into a suitable care setting for assessment 

44



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

of their future needs.  Evidence shows that this is really important for 
maximising recovery.  We continue to work collaboratively with hospitals and 
providers to better communicate options for older people and their families, 
including where end of life choices can be better made. We are also 
strengthening the approach to promote general health and wellbeing when 
patients access services, as well as what alternative services exist outside of 
hospital. 
 

 We have implemented a programme focusing on frail patients for whom 
an increased level of support can prevent hospital admission.  We have 
collaborated system-wide to design a new pathway for frail patients based 
upon local needs and national standards, alongside other interventions to help 
battle ‘isolation’ and engage carers and voluntary organisations. There have 
been 16 high impact actions of focus impacting on winter 18/19.   

 

 We have implemented a major programme of winter communications and 
campaigns consistent with national messages but often tailored to LLR and to 
targeted groups of patients. The campaigns have undertaken a recent 
evaluation of their effectiveness to support learning, and have included: 
 
o NHS 111 and 111 online; 
o Flu; 
o LLR Prepared; 
o Pharmacy; 
o Keep Antibiotics Working; 
o Stay Well this Winter; 
o Self-Care Week; 
o GP Extended Hours and Access. 

 
 
Population Growth - Health and Social Care Demand 
 
24. In context, there are a significant number of factors noted as impacting on rising 

demand and access to health and social care services to which the system is 
responding: 

 

 Patients are living longer in light of advances in medical treatment and health, 
alongside an aging population with resident growth into the area and lifestyle 
factors; all of which increase the demand for public services including health 
and social care.   

 LLR population is circa 1.2m people in total – largest in the East Midlands; 
Leicester city is the largest city in the East Midlands by population. 

 Avg. annual population growth (census) is 0.9% growth/year. 

 As part of the strategic growth plan, LLR is building (in part has built) 96,580 
new homes from 2011‐2031. A further 90,500 dwellings beyond 2031.  Major 
infrastructure change is expected. 

 Universities are expanding the number of students. 

45



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 Leicester city in particular sees periods of variation – multi-cultural events 
such as Diwali, sporting events, etc. 

 
 
 
Process – Comprehensive Review of Winter 2018/19 Performance 
 
25. The health and social care system is currently in planning mode for a review of 

winter 2018/19 to take place in May.  This will include a comprehensive review 
and workshop engaging stakeholders regarding what went well versus not so 
well, and what we can do differently in building greater system resilience and 
improving both quality and performance for patients. 

 
Conclusions 
 
26. In comparing 2017/18 to 2018/19, performance over the course of winter 

2018/19 has demonstrated both improvement and worsening at different 
periods of heightened surge and demand placing significant pressure upon 
health and social care providers.  Although severe weather has not been 
experienced across LLR, the system has been prepared to respond if required. 
 

27. Through the strengthening of integrated ways of working and processes 
alongside a significant increase in demand for health and social care services, 
LLR has established a more stable and resilient system to respond to and 
manage pressures as demonstrated through its operational pressures 
escalation levels (OPEL) framework. 

 
28. The approach to planning and managing escalation has significantly improved 

the way in which all LLR system partners manage collaboratively the pressure 
to anticipate escalation and put in place the appropriate actions to prevent 
issues and/or enable de-escalation to occur swiftly.  The winter resilience 
planning process has enabled the opportunity to better engage and connect 
public services for patients and members of the public. Further work is ongoing 
to shape LLR urgent and emergency care priorities to increase this connectivity 
for shared learning, improved services, and better value for money. 
 

29. The ‘Help Us Help You’ and ‘Stay Well this Winter’ communication campaign of 
winter messages, both national and local, as well as the winter communications 
plan have been comprehensive and feedback from stakeholders suggests more 
effective than in previous years.  

 
30. Planning winter preparedness across dozens of stakeholder organisations is 

challenging, technical and complex.  The plan was developed with input from 
three Clinical Commissioning Groups, Leicester City Council, Leicestershire 
County Council, Rutland County Council, University Hospitals of Leicester 
(UHL), Primary Care and multiple GP practices, Community and Mental Health 
Care Providers, Independent Sector Providers, patients and carers, 
Healthwatch, NHS England and NHS Improvement, as well as members of the 

46



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

local Leicester Resilience Forum, including input from the police, fire service, 
Public Health England, Health Protection, Health Education, utility companies, 
and several voluntary and charitable organisations through cold weather and 
emergency response preparations and planning.  The plan incorporated 
demand and capacity plans, business continuity plans, flu and infection control 
preparedness, adverse weather protocols, as well as a variety of other process 
improvement and workforce-related initiatives.   

 
31. The plan was approved by the LLR A&E Delivery Board which comprises of 

senior leaders across Leicestershire and Rutland in October, with subsequent 
additions in November to incorporate additional initiatives from both national 
and regional regulators. The A&E Delivery Board will continue to monitor 
progress of the plan production and more importantly, will ensure that any 
learning as we go through winter is incorporated into updated versions for 
continuous improvement. 
 

32. In light of 2017/18 performance and concerns, regulators including national and 
regional NHS England and NHS Improvement colleagues conducted a winter 
assurance visit on 22nd November including all health and social care system 
partners.  Plans were reviewed with site visits across UHL, and regulators 
confirmed that LLR were in a more stable position than in previous years, 
highlighting the collaboration of stakeholders and tested integrated plans as a 
particular strength ahead of winter. In addition, during the month of February 
LLR commissioners have more recently been engaged by NHS England to 
support and contribute to wider regional learning and development to capture 
good practice and support winter season preparation across the region for next 
year. 

 
33. Demand for and pressure on health and social care services continues to rise 

across LLR, and is exceeding the average census growth rate of 0.9%. This is 
due to an expanding population, people living longer, and advances in medical 
research and treatment. 

 
34. A full review of performance over winter is being planned for May 2019, 

whereby stakeholders across the health and social care system will inform 
lessons learnt and areas for improvement to enable the collaborative approach 
to building system resilience.  This will include an evaluation of both 
performance and quality, as well as patient experience. 

 
 
Background papers 
 
35. Report presented to Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 September 

2018:  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s140041/OSC-County%20-
%20Winter%20Preparedness%201819-24.08.18%20MRSLRB%20V5sub.pdf 
 

 

47

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s140041/OSC-County%20-%20Winter%20Preparedness%201819-24.08.18%20MRSLRB%20V5sub.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s140041/OSC-County%20-%20Winter%20Preparedness%201819-24.08.18%20MRSLRB%20V5sub.pdf


 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
36. The report reflects impact across the entire LLR geography.     
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title:  Mike Ryan, Director of Urgent & Emergency Care, LLR System 
Telephone:    01509 567708 
Email:    Michael.Ryan@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix - Winter Communication Evaluation as at February 2019 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
37. N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
38. N/A 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
39. N/A 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
40. N/A 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
41. N/A 

 
 

48

mailto:Michael.Ryan@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk


Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

urgent and emergency care 

communications plan 2018/19

Evaluation Update

Jit Parekh - Feb 2019 

49



Timelines for campaigns: high-level and in development 
Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March 

NHS 111 1st Oct - 25th Nov 

Winter flu 8th - 31st Oct

LLR Prepared 

Campaign

8th - 12th Oct

Keep Antibiotics 

working (PHE)

23rd Oct

Stay Well This Winter 12th Nov - 23rd Dec 

Self Care Week 12-18 Nov 

GP Extended Hours 3rd-23rd Dec 

NHS 111 online 1st – 30th Jan 

Pharmacy 4th -17th March 

50



When 

Oct 2018 till Jan 2019

Stakeholder/ audiences

– All audiences 

3

NHS 111, Flu, Keep Antibiotics Working, Staywell this Winter, Self Care 

What 

• Schedule of press releases with video assets to remind people to get their flu jab, Call NHS 111, Keep Antibiotics 

Working, Self Care, Staywell this Winter supported with supporting social media campaign content. 

• Working with voluntary and community organisations to support the dissemination of messages to those in our 

target groups, particularly the harder to reach groups

• Working with LPT to empower staff to act as ambassadors for target groups including older frail and LTC.

• Targeted work with south east Asian community to promote messages through Diwali celebrations and Bonfire 

celebrations at Abbey Park 

• Printed and Digital Toolkits to health and social care partners and voluntary and community sectors to cascade 

messages to front line staff, domiciliary care workers and volunteer workers

• Support with social media and website content – held centrally on the newly launched LLR HUHY website  

www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/help-us-help-you

51

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/help-us-help-you


4

NHS 111, Flu, Keep Antibiotics Working, Staywell this Winter, Self Care 

Media Releases 

• 1 x Media Release - Make sure you’re protected against the flu this 

winter coverage in Leicester Mercury (printed 17 Dec)
www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/leicester-news/disasters-could-hit-

leicestershire-what-2469717

www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/health/new-flu-jab-save-hundreds-

1995561

www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/health/who-can-it-one-flu-1041864

• 1 x Media Release  - Extended GP Access appointments

• 1 x Media Release  - Keep your antibiotics working this winter

• 1 x Media Release  - Choose self care this winter

• 1 x Media Release  - Feeling under the weather think NHS 111 

(Loughborough Echo [in print, on 26/12]

• 1 x Media Release  - Take the necessary steps to avoid getting sick this 

winter  (Loughborough Echo and Ashby Times [print])

• 1 x Media Release  - Accessing health services this Christmas

• 1 x Media Release  - Managing asthma and respiratory problems this 

winter (BBC Radio Leicester and Coalville Times) Listen from 1:25 and 

30 seconds: www.bbc.co.uk/sounds/play/p06w2529

• 1 x Media Release  - Local pharmacies: a fast, convenient and expert 

service for a range of minor ailments

52

http://www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/leicester-news/disasters-could-hit-leicestershire-what-2469717
http://www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/health/new-flu-jab-save-hundreds-1995561
http://www.leicestermercury.co.uk/news/health/who-can-it-one-flu-1041864
http://www.bbc.co.uk/sounds/play/p06w2529


Local media coverage 

53



Flu Uptake Across LLR 

Provisional end of November 2018 cumulative uptake data for England on influenza vaccinations given from 1 September 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Org Name (CCG= Clinical Commissioning Group)

Response Summary 65 and over Under 65 (at-risk only) Pregnant

No. of 
practices

No. of forms 
completed

% of practices 
responding

Patients 
registered

Number 
vaccinated

% Vaccine 
Uptake

Patients 
registered

Number 
vaccinated

% Vaccine 
Uptake

Patients 
registered

Number 
vaccinated

% Vaccine 
Uptake

NHS EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CCG
32 32 100.0 73,653 53,225 72.3 35,955 15,893 44.2 2,929 1,326 45.3

NHS LEICESTER CITY CCG
57 57 100.0 47,214 30,638 64.9 47,724 21,010 44.0 4,850 1,906 39.3

NHS WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CCG
48 48 100.0 77,307 54,804 70.9 44,071 19,825 45.0 3,743 1,799 48.1

Total England  (National Average)
6,949 6,857 98.7 10,349,256 7,221,565 69.8 6,827,240 3,055,095 44.7 559,343 244,260 43.7

54



0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

20774
18800

20146 21908
23512

28928
29781

26477 25885 28892
30928

35959

LLR NHS 111 - Actual calls offered

2017 2018

NHS 111 calls in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

National and LLR NHS 111 Activities locally from  

1st Oct – 31st Dec

55



Other activities across LLR

• Screens shown on repeat at Diwali lights switch on – approx. 40,000 people

• Screens shown on repeat at Abbey Park Firework Display – approx. 10,000 
people 

• NHS Leicestershire Partnership Trust  school nurses cascading don’t forget you 
flu jab messages across LLR 

• Digital Flu,NHS11, LLR HUHY Website, Self Care, Respiratory / Norovirus Tool 
kit (videos, leaflets, web banners,  and social media content forwarded to all 
partners/stakeholders 

• Attend Freshers Fairs at the 3 x LLR universities 

• PPG encouraged to raise awareness of winter messages via three CCG’s and 
primary care team 

• Self care – hand washing video developed by UHL, interactive medicine box 
available for all to use on there website 

• Presented at Leicestershire Pharmacy Committee to get local pharmacy to 
support and raise awareness of our campaigns 

• Respiratory / Norovirus Q&A developed and supporting materials developed

• UHL Respiratory Health Professionals and Patient supporting campaign 

• University of Leicester conducted NHS 111 awareness projects across campus 
and presented findings 

56



Outreach activities

The team spoke to over 120 local people, explaining that anyone can become an 

#antibioticguardian plus key messages about @NHS111 and keeping well this #winter 

57



Work Place Activities 

Campaign packs were posted to :

• Amazon fulfilment Centre

• Hastings Direct

• Samworth Brothers

• Tesco Distribution Centre

• Walkers

• Ashby and District Hospital

• Coalville community Hospital
• Hinckley and Bosworth Community Hospital

• Loughborough Hospital

• John Storer House

• Ashby Health Centre

Hastings Direct Staff Notice Board, Plasma Screens and information 

on staff intranet  

58



Work Place Activities 

Presented and discussion with over 75 

HastingsDirect Staff with average age of 21 on 

LLR Help Us Help campaign on flu, self care, 

using NHS 111, how pharmacies can help, GP 

extended access, where your local urgent care 

centre and staying well

59



Presentation to Voluntary and Community Settings across LLR:

Presentation delivered and packs were given out to voluntary and 

charity organisations :
• The Carers Centre

• Support for Carers

• Workpays

• Vistablind 

• Give and take care

• Warm Homes 

• Leicestershire Aging Together

• Housing and Support

• Evolve Health Solutions

• Age UK Leicestershire 

• Voyage Care 

• Adhd Solutions

• Mosaic

• Turning Point

• VASL

• Healthwatch Leicestershire 

• PPI and PPG 

www.youtube.com/watch?v=_RYiyAExtx4

Working in partnership with 

Healthwatch Leicestershire 

in raising awareness and 

scoping HYHU winter 

communications  

60



LLR Winter Campaign 2018-19 Social Media

Overview

On behalf of the three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) covering Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland (LLR), West Leicestershire CCG is leading on the promotion of winter health messages in support of 

the national NHS Help Us Help You: Stay Well This Winter campaign and the LLR Help Us Help You website:

www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/help-us-help-you

We are using social media (Twitter and Facebook) as well as video content produced by NHSE to highlight 

these winter messages, using the hashtag #HelpUsHelpYou.

61

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/help-us-help-you


The approach

To achieve the strongest impact WLCCG will

✓ use CCG / Trust / VolCom websites, Twitter and Facebook to 

promote planned activities and key winter messages

✓ utilise existing NHS England and Public Health England winter 

messaging and campaigns, but localise these for LLR wherever 

possible

✓ produce comms toolkits on key winter health areas, including NHS 

111, flu vaccination, self care, pharmacies, etc., and circulate to 

key partners and stakeholders

62



Examples 

Clear, useful 
messages 

with CTAs & 
relevant 
images / 

video

Messages will 
run across 

various 
platforms

63



LLR Help Us Help You Social Media Activities:

Analytics show that from the

combined Twitter and Facebook

accounts, for the period of Oct

2018 to Jan 2019:

@west_leic_ccg @WestLeicCCG
*From scheduled tweets

• ~400 tweets/posts sent

• 3,200 connections

• ~100,000 impressions

• 15,600 average reach per day*

• ~1,000,000 total reach 

• 484 shares/retweets and 165 likes

• 4795 links clicked*

64



LLR Help Us Help You website launch  

Google analytics: November 2018 – 8 February 2019

• Page views (all pages): 5,626 (% of BCT website)

• Unique visitors (all pages): 2,162

New website launched and is now hosted on the LLR 

Better Care Together and replaced the LLR Staywell 

website 

65



Stakeholders supporting the campaign across LLR:

66



Sharing Collaterals with other NHS organisations 

Sharing our interactive ‘Medicine Box’ with other CCG’s and Trusts across the country 

file:///C:/Users/jparekh_ml/Downloads/Self%20Care%20-%20Interactive%20Box_v5.pdf

67

file:///C:/Users/jparekh_ml/Downloads/Self Care - Interactive Box_v5.pdf


68



69



70



71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
13 MARCH 2019 

 
REPORT OF LLR HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM 

 
NON-EMERGENCY PATIENT TRANSPORT SERVICE –  

THAMES AMBULANCE SERVICES LIMITED (TASL) 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update from LLR Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs) on the Non-Emergency Patient Transport 
Service, and in particular reference the Care Quality Commission’s published 
inspection report on 13th February 2019.  This is to ensure openness and 
transparency in relation to provider management as well as service 
performance.   
 

2. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider and note the 
content of this report. 
 

 
Introduction and Backround 
 
3. Thames Ambulance Services Limited (TASL) was awarded the LLR contract for 

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services (NEPTS) following a procurement 
exercise across LLR in June 2017, and service commenced 1st October 2017.  
The contract is now in its 2nd year of operation. 
 

4. On average, 11,000 journeys are undertaken every month, including hospital 
discharge, transport to/from outpatient appointments, as well as transporting 
renal patients.  Eligibility criteria are established to ensure transport is in 
accordance with medical/clinical patient need as determined by the ordering 
clinician. 

 
5. Since contract award, service performance has been below expectation which 

has impacted upon the quality of the service and in particular patient 
experience. The CCG contracts team continue to monitor and manage the 
situation with TASL via fortnightly interface and monthly contract meetings.  

 
6. Over the past six months alongside winter resilience planning, TASL’s 

operational performance has stabilised and has improved alongside quality 
monitoring and reporting enhancements.   

 
 
 

73 Agenda Item 11



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Quality - Care Quality Commission Inspection 23rd October 2019 and Report 
 
7. The CQC inspection took place in October 2018 at TASL bases in Lincoln, 

Spalding and Grimsby and the head office in Lincoln.  The report highlights a 
number of areas for improvement and concern, and has published ratings 
across the health domains.  The overall service rating is noted as “Inadequate” 
with the following domain ratings: 

 
 

 
 
 

8. Although there were no bases or sites of operation in Leicestershire inspected 
or any specific concerns raised about LLR service, there are implications for all 
NHS organisations contracting with TASL. 

 
9. Following the inspection an NHS England (NHSE) risk summit was held on the 

8th of November where CQC and CCG concerns were discussed and a number 
of actions were agreed including each county being asked to undertake their 
own assurance visit. It was agreed that an NHSE oversight group would be 
established to support close monitoring of quality concerns. 

 
10. The CCGs quality team subsequently carried out its own quality visit on the 7th 

of January 2019 specifically to the two sites in Leicestershire.  On the whole, 
the visit identified some areas for improvement consistent with themes but 
generally was more positive than previous visits with no major concerns 
highlighted.  It was noted that not all staff had completed mandatory training 
and there was a distinction between new staff and those that had transferred 
from the previous provider.  Further, the number of formal complaints received 
is minimal (1 average/month), however the CCGs are working with TASL to 
assure that patient complaints and concerns are captured and categorised 
appropriately. 

 
 
 

74



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
11. The CQC inspection team’s main findings as included in the report include: 
 

a. Generally, staff we spoke with during our inspection of the ambulance 
stations said they had not completed safeguarding or mandatory 
training and station managers told us they had no access to training 
data. At the time of our inspection, the provider was unable to tell us 
staff compliance rates with safeguarding or mandatory training. 

 
b. Generally, ambulance staff we spoke with during our inspection said 

they had no training on the MCA or meeting the needs of bariatric 
patients. Staff said they had not received handling and moving training 
and felt unsafe transferring bariatric (morbidly obese) patients. 
However, we could not corroborate this. 

 
c. At the Grimsby ambulance station, managers told us they had no 

access to staff contact information and didn’t know how to contact staff 
if they needed them to cover shifts or inform them of any changes. 

 
d. We found infection control issues at the ambulance stations we visited, 

this included staff not having access to running water at the Spalding 
location and staff were unable to clean vehicles, and records of deep 
cleaning were unavailable. At the time of our inspection, the Grimsby 
ambulance station had ongoing issues with cleanliness and bird control. 
Following our inspection, the provider took action to install pest control 
equipment to eliminate this. 

 
e. We found visibly unclean vehicles at the Spalding and Lincoln 

ambulance stations. 
 

f. Generally, ambulance staff and managers we spoke with during our 
inspection did not understand risk at the stations we visited, we found 
out of date policies in use and some of the ambulance staff had no 
personal digital assistants (PDA) to support their day to day activities 
limiting their access to information. This was particularly evident at 
Grimsby, where nine PDA were out of use.  

 
g. Ambulance staff we spoke with during our inspection told us they had 

no access to equipment for transporting children, despite the provider 
offering this service and we found limited equipment for this purpose 
during our inspection. 

 
h. Medical gasses at Spalding site were not being stored safely, there 

were environmental issues with the base being on a second level and 
staff access to equipment provided. 

 

75



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

i. Generally, ambulance staff told us they had not received appraisals or 
supervision, and data supplied by the provider showed appraisal rates 
below the providers compliance target. 

 
j. Generally, ambulance staff we spoke with during our inspection told us 

of their concerns regarding the safe transport of patients with mental 
health needs or dementia and questioned how the provider was 
assessing patient needs and if staff were competent to transfer these 
patients. 

 
k. Generally, ambulance staff told us they did not receive feedback from 

complaints or incidents, unless they were directly involved. Information 
sharing was not routine and we found staff lacking in information about 
the new organisational structure and proposals for the business going 
forward. 

 
l. Managers and ambulance staff were not using key performance data at 

ambulance station level, generally staff we spoke with were unaware of 
how this was used or how it impacted on the business or quality of the 
service. 

 
m. The provider monitored call centre handling times and at the time of our 

inspection we saw compliance against call handling targets was not 
being achieved. Some ambulance staff we spoke with questioned how 
work was allocated to the ambulance teams as they often felt patients 
were not assessed correctly. 

 
n. Generally, staff we spoke with at the ambulance stations didn’t know 

the providers vision or strategy, staff did say they wanted to provide 
good care, but they were not aware of the providers vision or strategy. 

 
o. We found limited records of team meetings at the stations we visited, 

staff told us they have had very few meetings, if any, in the last six to 
12 months. 

 
p. Leadership was not embedded throughout the service, staff described a 

culture of significant change, consistent changes in management and a 
lack of senior management presence throughout the organisation. 

 
q. Generally, ambulance staff we spoke with told us that relationships with 

the transport booking and call handling teams was fractious and there 
were difficult relationships between front line and office staff. 
Ambulance staff said that workloads often led to them not getting 
breaks or correct information about patients. 

 
r. Generally, staff told us that staff morale was low at the ambulance 

stations we visited. Staff said they had no contact with the senior team 

76



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

and that managerial posts had changed so much they were unsure who 
was in managerial roles. 

 
s. The provider had recruited a fleet manager, we noted an improvement 

from our last inspection in terms of fleet management and the provider 
had detailed records of vehicle maintenance and scheduling. 

 
t. Staff we spoke with across the providers teams, demonstrated caring 

attitudes towards patients and a will to provide them with the right level 
of care and support. 

 
u. The complaints team had increased in size and the provider now had a 

system to log and respond to complaints formally. 
 

v. The provider had implemented a corporate risk register, strategic plan, 
vision and business plan. 

 
w. The provider had introduced a quality team and was beginning to 

review some areas of performance data. 
 

x. The provider had increased the number of staff trained to safeguarding 
level 3 and 4. 

 
y. Following this inspection, we told the provider that it must make other 

improvements, to help the service improve. 
 
12. It should be noted that TASL have formally challenged a number of the CQC’s 

findings published in the report, and are in the process of liaising with the CQC 
to ensure accuracy in order to ensure the actions it takes has the desired 
impact. 

 
13. In light of the concerns identified in October/November, and the wide geography 

involved, NHS England quality teams regionally have led oversight of TASL’s 
improvement plans.   

 
14. LLR has maintained a development and action plan with TASL since December 

2017, and has continued to monitor and manage steady progress to ensure the 
continuity of service for patients. 

 
 
Performance 
 
15. In general, over the life of the contact TASL’s performance has made marginal 

improvements towards meeting contractual key performance indicators (KPIs) 
and in some areas more significant improvements.  TASL’s performance has 
been compared to the previous provider, and is comparably better in some 
areas and slightly worse in others.   

 

77



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

16. A summary of their performance to date includes:  
 

a. Eligibility Criteria – all new bookings have gone through the eligibility 
criteria, and data provided since July 2018 shows that 96% of booking 
requests have passed eligibility.  

 
b. Call Centre – the call centre performance has been below expectation, 

however this has started to improve following recruitment in December. 
Since the contract began, an average of 88% of calls were answered 
and 12% abandoned, but only 65% of answered calls were answered in 
60 seconds.  Performance improved significantly between June-August 
2018, and although reduced again September to December 
performance has improved as part of winter resilience planning.  

 
c. Time on Vehicle (Outpatients) – TASL has consistently achieved four 

out of six KPIs for time spent on the vehicle by Outpatients.   
Performance for the other two standards (travelling 35+ miles) has 
fluctuated, but the number of patients that missed the KPIs are small 
(80 and 69 patients respectively).   

 
d. Outpatients Time of Arrival – TASL has consistently not achieved the 

two KPIs for the time of arrival for Outpatients.  There was an upward 
trend up to August 2018, but performance has since dipped.  Over the 
15 month period, 66% of Outpatients arrived within an hour of the 
appointment time, rising to 71% arriving on time for the appointment.  

 
e. Outpatients Time of departure – TASL has consistently not achieved 

the two KPIs for the time of departure for Outpatients.  Performance 
has been sporadic over the period, averaging 59% collected within an 
hour rising to 85% collected within two hours.  

 
f. Discharge Time of Departure – Performance for discharge patients has 

consistently been below expectation, with a couple of good months 
(January and March 2018).  Over the period, 69% of discharge patients 
from the LRI were collected within two hours of the made ready time, 
and 51% of discharge patients from all other hospitals collected within 
two hours of the made ready time.  Commissioners have worked 
closely with TASL and University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) to enable 
more flexible capacity to meet variation in demand over the course of 
the week, as well as facilitating improvements to the logistical planning 
of patient discharges from hospital.  

 
g. Renal Dialysis – Renal dialysis patients are the one part of this service 

which has had positive performance. The Time on Vehicle KPIs were 
either achieved or were close to being achieved, and there was 
consistent month-on-month improvement for the three arrival and 
collection time KPIs up to July 2018, but has since stabilised.   

 

78



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
 
Conclusions 
 
17. TASL provides an important service for those patients who rely on it to take 

them to health care appointments, and back home from hospital.  It is essential 
patients have confidence the service is safe and reliable. 

 
18. Although the CQC’s inspection did not cover bases in Leicestershire or Rutland, 

we were aware the CQC’s inspection in October had raised some concerns and 
an action plan was developed in response. We are also aware that TASL has 
challenged some aspects of the report. 

 
19. Following the publication of the inspection report we have discussed the 

implications with TASL, and are reviewing the progress made in responding to 
the CQC’s concerns.  We will then consider next steps and work with other 
CCGs and NHS England and of course TASL to ensure the continuity of 
service. 

 
20. CCGs seek to assure patients using the non-emergency patient transport 

service that they take the report seriously and will continue to work collectively 
to ensure the service meets the needs of patients. 

 
21. The CCGs remain closely engaged with TASL, commissioner colleagues, 

NHSE, and patient groups to ensure continuity of service for our patients.  
Whilst we have experienced numerous challenges with TASL, we have already 
resolved a number of issues to date and worked diligently to safeguard the 
continuity of care for LLR patients over the course of the winter season.  We 
maintain a robust and closely managed action plan and quality monitoring 
approach to capture working practice and areas for improvement.  

 
22. Locally TASL’s performance and quality delivery is improving (albeit slowly) 

over the past 2-3 months, relationships between providers remain positive, 
however they do remain a challenged organisation. 
 

 
Background papers 
 
23. CQC’s inspection report: https://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1-217265480   

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
24. The report reflects impact across the entire LLR geography.     
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title:  Mike Ryan, Director of Urgent & Emergency Care, LLR System 
Telephone:    01509 567708 

79

https://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1-217265480


 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

Email:    Michael.Ryan@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk  
 
List of Appendices 

 
25. N/A 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
26. N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
27. N/A 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
28. N/A 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
29. N/A 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
30. N/A 

 
 

80

mailto:Michael.Ryan@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk


 
 

 

 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 13th MARCH 

2019 

REPORT OF LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS  

THE NHS LONG TERM PLAN 

Purpose of report 

1. The purpose of this report is to set out the key requirements of the NHS Long 
Term Plan. 

  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

2. As part of the 2019/20 NHS Planning Guidance there is a requirement for all 
Integrated Care System (ICS) to have a five year plan signed off by all 
organisations and submitted in  Autumn 2019. 

 
3. The five year plan will build on the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) 

Better Care Together Draft Plan that was published in October 2016 and the 
LLR Better Care Together Next Steps document that was published in August 
2018. In addition the various workstreams have been developing and delivering 
on their priorities over the last three years. 

 

Background 

4. In January 2019 NHS England published The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) 

which can be found at www.longtermplan.nhs.uk. 

 

5. During the development of the Long Term Plan advice and experience was 

gained form clinical experts and other stakeholders, patients and the public 

which was integral in developing the plan. 

 

6. There were 200 engagement events, and 2,500 responses to engagement 

questions were received from 3.5 million individuals or organisations/ 

members/supporters. The Patients Association and Healthwatch England were 

also involved with submitting evidence from over 85,000 people. 

 

7. The LTP sets out how the NHS needs to adapt and change over the coming 

years to ensure that we can provide sustainable health care across England. 

The main areas of focus are: 

 

81 Agenda Item 12

http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


 
 

 

 How the NHS will move to a new service model in which patients get 

more options, better support, and properly joined-up care at the right 

time in the optimal care setting. 

 Strengthening of actions on prevention and health inequalities. 

 Improving care quality and outcomes for patients over the next 10 years. 

 Tackling workforce pressures. 

 Ramping up the use of technology and digital enabled care across the 

NHS. 

 Increase funding to support these changes. 

 

8. A summary of the main requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan are set out in 

Appendix One. Currently there is no indication that the NHS Constitution will 

change as a result of the NHS Long Term Plan.  

 

9. It is important to note that as a system we are not starting from scratch, many 

of the requirements of the Long Term Plan have already been identified locally 

as priorities through our Better Care Together (BCT) programme. Collectively 

we have been working together over the last four years to redesign and 

improve care and support for our local populations in many of these areas and 

this will continue and be incorporated into a new local five year plan.   

 

10. This paper concentrates on some of the key areas that will support the 

development of improved integrated care and where there is a requirement in 

the plan to “accelerate” the offer and or progress. 

Developing a LLR response to the NHS Long Term Plan 

 

11. The following diagram sets out the main building blocks for the development of 

the five year plan. Work has commenced on developing the ICS model and 

reshaping our governance and this is described in more detail in the next 

section.  The BCT workstreams will be reviewing their current plans against the 

Long Term Plan and developing five year plans over the next few months. 

Throughout this process we will engage with the public and stakeholders. 

 

12. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Senior Leadership Team are 

responsible for ensuring the revised plan is developed. 

 

82



 
 

 
 

Integrated Care Systems 

13. As part of the Long Term Plan there is an expectation that local organisations, 

through Integrated Care Systems (ICS), will redesign care and improve 

population health, creating shared leadership and action. 

 

14. By April 2021 there is a requirement that ICSs will cover the whole country, 

growing out of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships. ICSs will 

have a key role in working with Local Authorities at “place” level and through 

ICSs, commissioners will make shared decisions with providers on how to use 

resources, design services and improve population health. 

 

15. Every ICS will need streamlined commissioning arrangements to enable a 

single set of commissioning decisions to take place at a system level. Locally 

the first step on this journey has been agreed with the appointment of a single 

Chief Executive Officer and senior management team across the three local 

Clinical Commissioning Groups.  

 

16. The NHS Long Term Plan sees that each ICS will typically involve a single 

CCG and these becoming leaner, more strategic organisations that support 

providers to partner with local government and other community organisations 

on population health, service redesign and Long Term Plan implementation. 

Work will be undertaken to consider the options for CCGs locally during 2019. 

Developing 
the ICS 
model 

Developing 
financial and 
contracting 

models 

Develop our 
5 year plan 

Rehsaping 
our  

governance 

Developing 
our 

programmes 
to meet NHS 

LTP 

Engaging with 
the public on 

our plans 

83



 
 

 

17. Every ICSs will have: 

 

 A partnership board, drawn from and representing commissioners, 

trusts, primary care networks, and – with the clear expectation that they 

will wish to participate – local authorities, the voluntary and community 

sector and other partners. 

 A non-executive chair (locally appointed, but subject to approval by NHS 

England and NHS Improvement) and arrangements for involving non-

executive members of boards and governing bodies. 

 Sufficient clinical and managerial capacity drawn from across their 

constituent organisations to enable them to implement agreed system 

wide changes. 

 Full engagement with primary care, including through a named 

accountable Clinical Director for each primary care network. 

 A greater emphasis by the Care Quality Commission on partnership 

working and system-wide quality in its regulatory activity, so that 

providers are held to account for what they are doing to improve quality 

across their local area. 

 All providers within an ICS will be required to contribute to ICS goals and 

performance. 

 Clinical leadership aligned around ICSs to create clear accountability to 

the ICS. ICSs and Health and Wellbeing boards will also work more 

closely together, although at this stage there is no further guidance on 

what this means. 

 

18. ICSs will have the opportunity to earn greater authority as they develop and 

perform.  

 

19. The development of our local ICS is part of our Better Care Together 

Partnership. In our Better Care Together Next Steps to better care in Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland document we set out what our plans are for 

delivering care at the different levels of an ICS system, see diagram below. 

 

84



 
 

 
 

 

20. We have been working together through both place and system to develop 

integrated models of care over the last few years. This has included our Better 

Care Fund (BCF), developing health and social care integrated locality teams 

and prevention work. It is worth noting that the Long Term Plan states that the 

BCF will be reviewed to ensure it is meeting its goals and this will conclude in 

the first quarter of 2019; in 2019/20 there will still be a clear requirement to 

continue to reduce Delayed Transfers of Care and improve the availability of 

care packages for patients ready to leave hospital.  

 

21. The Long Term Plans asks us to ensure that we have an ICS in place by April 

2021 and this work is being undertaken, by the System Leadership Team, 

putting in place the necessary actions and building blocks for the creation of an 

ICS within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. This will include reviewing 

and agreeing visions, purpose and values; establishing partners; setting 

expectations of partners; reviewing governance; developing an organisation 

development programme; developing and approving an agreement on which 

the partners set out how they work together; and the development of its five 

year plan.  

 

22. This work is in its early stages but there is an expectation that LLR will be in a 

shadow ICS by April 2020 in order to prepare for the April 2021 requirement in 

the Long Term Plan. 

85



 
 

 

 

Primary Care Networks 

23. A key building block of the integrated care system is the neighbourhood level 

and again in LLR we have done considerable work across health and social 

care in the last two to three years to develop integrated care teams at a locality 

level.  

 

24. The Long Term Plan requires all areas to establish integrated teams, known as 

Primary Care Networks (PCNs), made up of groups of practices and other 

health and social care providers working in partnership to provide proactive, 

personalised, co-ordinated and more integrated primary and community 

services to improve health outcomes for their populations. 

 

25. Currently there are 12 localities across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

with populations ranging from 55,006 to 124,203. The requirement from NHS 

England is for PCNs to have a size of between 30,000 to 50,000 and for them 

to be formally established by 1st July 2019. 

 

26. To respond to this the three LLR CCGs are discussing the size and geography 

with primary care and other providers. This is likely to result in circa 23 PCNs 

being created by 1st July 2019. The PCNs will be underpinned by both a 

Network Agreement which all member practices will need to sign up to and a 

new Directed Enhanced Service contract which will be the vehicle for the CCG 

to commission network based services from the PCN. In addition each PCN will 

need to appoint a Clinical Director. 

 

27. In addition, work is ongoing to redesign community services including nursing, 

reablement and therapy to support the PCNs and to provide the wider 

community services required to deliver integrated care. Our work with each 

local authority in relation to integrated team working and Better Care Fund 

services continues and will be an integral part of any well-functioning PCN.  

 

28. The PCNs will be able to recruit a new workforce to support them in the delivery 

of integrated care through a national role reimbursement scheme for which 

each PCN will be allocated a sum of money based on size. They can then 

recruit from a list of roles up to the financial resource allocated.   

 

29. From 2020/21 there will be seven national service specifications offered as part 

of the Network DES contract which is designed to support better care for 

specific cohorts of patients. In addition local areas can commission local 

services through the DES. 

86



 
 

Investment into the NHS 

30. The NHS Long Term Plan is backed by additional investment over the next five 

years. This extra investment will need to deal with current pressures and 

unavoidable demographic change and other costs, as well as delivering the 

new priorities set out in the plan. Headline figures are that funding will grow by 

an average of 3.4% in real terms a year over the next five years, which 

compares to an average of 2.2% over recent years. 

 

31. As a result of the additional investment it is expected that: 

 

 The provider sector will return to balance by 2020/21 and year-on-year 

the number of trusts and CCGs individually in deficit will reduce, so that 

all NHS organisations are in balance by 2023/24;  

 The NHS will achieve cash-releasing productivity of at least 1.1% a year, 

will all savings reinvested in frontline care; 

 The NHS will reduce the growth in demand for care through better 

integration and prevention; 

 The NHS will reduce variation across the health system, improving 

provider financial and operational performance. This will be a core 

responsibility of the ICS to bring together clinicians and managers to 

implement standardised evidence based pathways: and  

 The NHS will make better use of capital investment and its existing 

assets to drive transformation. 

 

32. There will be reforms to the payment system with a move away from funding 

activity to ensuring the majority of funding is population based, including a 

blended payment model beginning with urgent and emergency care. System 

wide control totals will be introduced. 

32.   There is a commitment within the Long Term Plan financial settlement to ensure 

that Mental Health Investment Standards are still met and that primary and 

community service funding should grow faster than CCGs overall revenue 

growth. How this additional funding is allocated will be discussed between 

commissioners and providers and will be informed by our work to develop 

integrated care. There is the flexibility with the changes to consider integrated 

commissioning models with local authorities.  

33.  Beyond 2019/20 further financial reforms will be introduced to support ICSs to 

deliver integrated care through a process of earned financial autonomy. Local 

health systems will be given greater control over resources on the basis of a 

strong financial and performance delivery. 

 

87



 
 

 

Increase emphasis on prevention and health inequalities 

34.   As can be demonstrated from the detail in Appendix One, the Long Term Plan 

increases the focus on the delivery of prevention and reducing health 

inequalities. The key areas of focus are smoking, obesity, alcohol, air pollution 

and antimicrobial resistance. 

35.   As part of the overall development of LLRs response to the Long Term Plan the 

LLR Prevention Board will lead the work to further strengthen our prevention 

offer working with the individual workstreams to ensure the requirements of the 

Long Term Plan are met. As part of the PCN development there is a 

requirement to develop a population health management approach and 

prevention is a key building block to this. To support this, funding is being made 

available to PCNs from July 2019 for each network to recruit social prescribing 

link workers.  

36. There is an indication in the Long Term Plan that the government and the NHS 

will consider whether there is a stronger role for the NHS in commissioning 

sexual health services, health visitors, and school nurses. To date there is no 

indication when this work will commence; as and when it does further updates 

can be provided. 

37. The Long Term Plan requires a more concerted and systematic approach to 

reducing health inequalities and addressing unwarranted variation in care.  To 

support this, a higher share of funding will be targeted to geographies with high 

health inequalities. Nationally this will be over £1billion by 2023/24.  Each area 

in 2019 will be expected to set out how they will specifically reduce health 

inequalities by 2023/24 and 2028/29 and this will form part of our new five year 

plan. This will be supported by a menu of evidence based interventions that if 

adopted locally could contribute to the goal. Specific actions being taken 

include: 

 

 An enhanced and targeted continuity of carer model to help improve 

outcomes for the most vulnerable mothers and their babies – by 2024 

75% of women from BAME communities and a similar percentage of 

woman from the most deprived groups will receive continuity of care from 

their midwife throughout pregnancy, labour and the postnatal period. 

 Offer all women who smoke during their pregnancy specialist smoking 

cessation support to help them quit. 

 By 2020/21 the NHS will ensure that at least 280,000 people living with 

severe mental health problems have their physical health needs met. By 

2023/24 the number of people receiving physical health checks will 

increase by an additional 110,000 people per year. 

88



 
 

 Improving care for people with a learning disability, autism or both. 

 Investment to meet the needs of rough sleepers. 

 Identify and support carers, particularly those from vulnerable 

communities. 

 Expansion of NHS specialist clinics to help more people with serious 

gambling problems. 

Digital 

38. The Long Term Plan puts a strong focus on digitally-enabled care across the 

NHS. Key areas of focus are detailed below and the local response to this is 

being led by the LLR IM&T Group which has representation from all 

organisations. In developing the local response consideration will need to be 

given to existing local plans.  

. 

 Create straightforward digital access to NHS services, and help patient 

and their carers manage their health. 

 Ensure that clinicians can access and interact with patient records and 

care plans wherever they are. 

 Use decision support and artificial intelligence to help clinicians in 

applying best practice, eliminate unwarranted variation across the whole 

pathway of care, and support patients in managing their health and 

condition. 

 Use predictive techniques to support systems to plan care for 

populations. 

 Protect patients’ privacy and give them control over their medical record. 

 Link clinical, genomic and other data to support the development of new 

treatments, clinical research and NHS performance. 

 Ensure security of NHS systems. 

 Mandate and enforce technology standards to ensure data is 

interoperable and accessible. 

 Encourage a world leading health IT industry. 

 

 

Conclusion 

 

39. The Long Term Plan sets out how care and outcomes are expected to change 

over the next five to ten years. 

 

40. Locally we have started this journey through our Better Care Together 

programme and this will form the basis for developing a new LLR five year plan. 

 

89



 
 

41. However like the Long Term Plan sets out there are areas that we need to move 

faster on including developing an integrated care system, prevention, reducing 

health inequalities and digital. 

 

Consultation 

42. Locally we will continue to engage on our plans through the BCT workstreams 

and where there are significant service changes that require formal consultation 

we will undertake this at the appropriate time. 

 

Background papers 

The NHS Long Term Plan. www.longtermplan.nhs.uk. 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

Not applicable. 

 

Officer to Contact 

Name and Job Title: Sarah Prema, Director Strategy and Implementation, Leicester 

City Clinical Commissioning Group 

Telephone: 0116 2951519 

Email:  sarah.prema@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk 

 

List of Appendices 

Appendix 1: Summary of Long Term Plan Requirements 

90

http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
mailto:sarah.prema@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk


 
 

Appendix One 

Summary of Long Term Plan Requirements 

Children and young people with cancer 

 Development of networked care to improve outcomes for children and young 
people with cancer.  

 From 2019 all children with cancer will be offered whole genome sequencing to 
enable more comprehensive and precise diagnosis. 

 Increase the number of children and young people taking part in clinical trials to 
50% by 2025. 

 From September 2019 all boys aged 12 and 13 will be offered vaccinations 
against HPV-related diseases. 

 Over the next five years NHS England will increase its contribution to the 
children’s hospice grant by match-funding CCGs who commit to increase their 
investment in local children’s palliative and end of life care services. 

Learning Disability 

 Improve the uptake of the annual health check in primary care so that at least 
75% of those eligible have a health check each year. 

 Pilot to be introduced for health checks for people with autism. 

 Expansion of the programmes to stop over medication of people with learning 
disability and or autism. 

 NHS staff will receive information and training on supporting people with learning 
disability and or autism,  

 National learning disabilities standards will be issued and will apply to all NHS 
funded services.  

 By 2023/24 a digital flag in the patient record will ensure staff know a patient has 
a learning disability and or autism. 

 Focus on reducing waiting times for autism diagnosis. 

 By 2023/24 children and young people with a learning disability, autism or both 
with the most complex needs will have a designated keyworker.  

 Local providers will be able to take control of budgets to reduce avoidable 
admissions, enable shorter length of stay and end out of area placements.  

 By March 2023/24 inpatient provision will have reduced to less than half of 2015 
levels. 

 Every local health system will be expected to use some of its growing community 
health services investment to have a seven-day specialist multi- disciplinary 
service and crisis care. 

 All areas of the county will implement and be monitored against a 12 point 
discharge plan to ensure discharges are timely and effective. 

Children and young people’s mental health 

 Funding for children and young people’s mental health services will grow faster 
than both overall NHS funding and total mental health spending. 

 By 2023/24 at least an additional 345,000 children and young people aged 0-25 
will be able to access support. Over the next decade the aim is to ensure that 
100% of children and young people who need specialist care can access it. 

 Additional investment into eating disorder services to ensure waiting time 
standards are maintained beyond 2020/21. 

 With a single point of access through NHS 111 all children and young people 
experiencing crisis will be able to access crisis care 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week.  

 Over the next five years the NHS will fund new Mental Health Support Teams 
working in schools and colleges to be rolled out to between one-fifth and a 
quarter of the county by the end of 2023. 

 Extend current service models to create a comprehensive offer for 0-25 year 
olds. The new model will deliver an integrated approach across health, social 
care, education and the voluntary sector. 

Children and young people 

 Reach base level standards in the NHS public function agreement for childhood 
immunisations. 

 In 2019/20 clinical networks will be rolled out to ensure we improve the quality of 
care for children with long-term conditions such as asthma, epilepsy and diabetes. 

 Paediatric clinical care and surgical services will evolve to meet the changing 
needs of patients. 

 By 2028 the aim is to move towards service models for young people that offer 
person-centred and age appropriate care for mental and physical health needs, 
rather than an arbitrary transition to adult service based on age not need. 

Cancer 

 From 2019 we will start to rollout new rapid Diagnostic Centres across the country. 

 In 2020 a new faster diagnosis standard for cancer will begin to be introduced so 
that patients receive a definitive diagnosis or ruling out of cancer within 28 days. 

 By 2020 HPV primary screening for cervical cancer will be in place. 

 By 2021, where appropriate every person diagnosed with cancer will have access 
to personalised care, including needs assessment, care plan and health and 
wellbeing information and support. 

 By 2022 the lung health check model will be extended. 

 By 2023, stratified follow-up pathways for people who are worried their cancer 
may have recurred will be in place. 

 By 2028, the NHS will diagnose 75% of cancers at Stage 1 or 2. 

 Primary care networks will be required to help improve early diagnosis of patients 
in their own neighbourhoods by 2023/24. 

Cardiovascular disease 

 Improving the effectiveness of approaches NHS Health Checks and increase case 
finding opportunities. 

 Expanding access to genetic testing to identify risk of early heart attacks so that at 
least 25% are identified in the next five years. 

 Improvement to community first response and build defibrillator networks to 
improve survival from out of hospital cardiac arrest. 

 By 2028 85% of those eligible will be able to access cardiac rehabilitation care. 

 Creation of a national CVD prevention audit for primary care to support clinical 
improvement. 

 Improve rapid access to heart failure specialist care and advice. 

 Greater access to echocardiography in primary care. 
 

Stroke care 

 90% of stroke patients will receive care on a specialist stroke unit. 

 All patients who could benefit from thrombolysis should receive it. 

 Expansion of mechanical thrombectomy to increase the numbers of patients who 
can be independent following a stroke. 

 Out of hospital more integrated and higher intensity rehabilitation for people 
recovering from stroke, delivered in partnership with voluntary organisations to 
support better outcomes. 

Diabetes 

 Patients with Type 1 diabetes to benefit from flash glucose monitors from April 
2019 in line with clinical guidelines. 

 Improve the delivery of recommended diabetes treatment targets and drive down 
variation between CCGs and practices. 

 All hospitals to provide multidisciplinary footcare teams and diabetes inpatient 
specialist nursing teams to improve recovery and to reduce lengths of stays and 
readmission rates. 

Respiratory disease 

 Reduce variation in the quality of spirometry testing. 

 More staff in primary care to be trained and accredited to provide the specialist 
input required to interpret spirometry results. 

 Expansion of pulmonary rehabilitation services over 10 years through a population 
health management approach in primary care. 

 New models of providing rehabilitation to those with mild COPD will be offered. 

 Pharmacists in primary care networks will undertake a range of medicine reviews, 
including educating patients on the correct use of inhalers.  

 Patients identified with community acquired pneumonia in emergency departments 
will be supported to be cared for safely out of hospital by receiving nurse-led 
supported discharge services. 

 Increasing the number of people with heart and lung disease to complete a 
programme of education and exercise based rehabilitation. 

Prevention – General 

 Focus on smoking, poor diet, high blood pressure, obesity and drug use. 

 Consideration of the role for the NHS in commissioning sexual health services, 
health visitors and school nurses. 
 

Prevention – Alcohol 

Hospitals with the highest rates of alcohol admissions will be supported to fully 
establish specialist Alcohol Care Teams. 

Prevention - Smoking 

 By 2023/24, all people admitted to hospital that smoke will be offered NHS funded 
tobacco treatment services. This will include all pregnant mothers and their 
partners. 

 Universal smoking cessation offer will also be available as part of specialist mental 
health services for long-term users of mental health, and in learning disability 
services. 
 

Prevention – Obesity 

 Targeted support offer and access to weight management services in primary care 
for people with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes or hypertension with a BMI of 30+. 

 Doubling of the NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme over the next five years. 

 Test an NHS programme supporting very low calorie diets for obese people with 
type 2 diabetes. 

 Revised hospital food standards. 

 Improving nutrition training as part of professional training. 

91



 
 
Health Inequalities 

 A higher share of funding targeted towards areas with high health inequalities 
through CCG allocations. 

 Measurable goals will be set for the narrowing of health inequalities. 

 All local systems will be expected to set out during 2019 how they will specifically 
reduce health inequalities by 2023/24 and 2028/29. 

 Menu of evidence based interventions will be published. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Primary and Community Care 

 Development of primary care networks based on populations of 30-50,000 
delivering integrated care 

 Roll out of the Enhanced Health in Care Homes model across all areas. 

 Proactively managing population health and developing services to support this 
approach.  

 The NHS Personalised Care model to be rolled out by 2023/24 - this will include 
access to social prescribing link workers. 

 Personal Health Budget programme to be accelerated with upto 200,000 people 
having a PHB by 2034/24. 

 Digital first will become an option for every patient improving access to primary 
care. 
 

Maternity and neonate 

 By 2024 75% of women from BAME communities and a similar percentage of 
women from the most deprived groups will receive continuity of care from their 
midwife. 

 Reduce stillbirth, maternal mortality, neonatal mortality and serious brain injury by 
50% by 2025. 

 Roll out of Savings Babies Lives Care Bundle across every maternity unit in 
2019. 

 Establish Maternal Medicine Networks which will ensure women with acute and 
chronic medical problems have timely access to specialist advice and care. 

 Encourage development of specialist pre-term birth clinics. 

 In 2019 20% of women will have access to continuity of care and this will be 
expanded to most women by March 2021. 

 By 2023/24 all women will be able to access their maternity notes and information 
through their smart phones and other devices. 

 Improved access and quality to perinatal mental health services. 

 Improvements to postnatal physiotherapy support. 

 All maternity services to deliver accredited, evidence based infant feeding 
programme in 209/20. 

 Redesign and expansion of neonatal critical care services to improve safety and 
effectiveness. 

Adult mental health services 

 Renewed commitment to grow investment in mental health services faster than 
the NHS budget overall for the next five years. 

 By 2020/21 at least 280,000 people living with severe mental health problems will 
have their physical health needs met. By 2023/24 this will increase to 390,000. 

 Continuation of the IAPT expansion plan, by 2023/24 an additional 380,000 
people will have access. 

 New community based offer for adults with severe mental illnesses will be 
introduced to include access to psychological therapies, improved physical health 
care, employment support, personalised and trauma-informed care, medicines 
management and support for self-harm and coexisting substance use.  

 Local areas will be supported to redesign and reorganise core community mental 
health teams to move towards a new placed-based, multidisciplinary service 
across health and social care aligned with primary care networks. 

 All-age mental health liaison service to be in all A&E departments and inpatient 
wards by 2020/21 with 70% of these service meeting “core 24” service standards 
by 2023/24. 

 Over the next 10 years anyone experiencing mental health crisis can call NHS 
111 and have 24/7 access to the mental health support they need in the 
community. 

 Increase in alternative forms of provision for those in crisis. 

 Specific waiting times for emergency mental health services will take effect from 
2020. 

 Ambulance staff will be trained and equipped to respond effectively to people in 
crisis. 

 Introduction of mental health transport vehicles to reduce inappropriate 
ambulance conveyance or by police to A&E. 

 Mental health nurses to be part of ambulance control rooms to improve triage and 
response to mental health calls. 

 The ending of acute of out of area in patient placements by 2021. 

 Reducing suicides to remain a priority including a new Mental Health Safety 
Improvement Programme which will have a focus on suicide preventions and 
reduction for mental health inpatients. 

 Suicide bereavement support for families and staff working in mental health crisis 
services. 

Workforce 

 Increase in the number of undergraduate nursing degrees, reducing attrition from 
training and improving retention with the aim of improving nursing vacancy rate to 
5% by 2028. 

 Establish on line nursing degree linked to guaranteed placement. 

 Earn and learn support premiums for students embarking on more flexible 
undergraduate degrees in mental health or learning disability nursing, who are 
predominantly mature students. 

 NHS organisations should look to take on the lead employer model, setting up the 
infrastructure to deliver apprenticeships on behalf of several trusts. 

 Growing apprenticeships on clinical and non-clinical jobs in the NHS. 

 Options to be considered to further expand medical school places. 

 Accelerate the shift from a dominance of highly specialised roles to a better 
balance with more generalists ones. 

 Improved medical training to support doctors to manage comorbidities, alongside 
single conditions. 

 Primary Care Networks to receive funding for additional staff to form part of a 
multidisciplinary team including clinical pharmacists, link workers, first contact 
physiotherapists and physician associates. 

 Newly qualified doctors and nurses will be offered a two-year fellowship. 

 New arrangements will be put in place to support NHS organisations in recruiting 
overseas. 

 Improvement of staff retention by at least 2% by 2025. 

 Expansion of multi-professional credentialing to enable clinicians to develop new 
capabilities formally recognised in specific areas of competence. 

 Promote flexibility, wellbeing and career development and address discrimination, 
violence, bullying and harassment. 

 Each NHS organisation to set its own target for BAME representation across its 
leadership team and broader workforce by 2021/22. 

 Expanded Practitioners Health Programme to help all doctors’ access specialist 
mental health support. 

 By 2021 NHS trusts will deploy electronic rosters or e-job plans. 

 New NHS leadership code will be developed which will set out cultural values and 
leadership behaviours. 

 Systematic identification, development and support to those with the capability and 
ambition to reach the most senior levels in the NHS. 

 Encourage organisations to give greater access for younger volunteers and an 
increased focus on programmes in deprived areas, and for those with mental 
health issues, learning disabilities and autism. Double the number of volunteers. 

Digital 

 NHS App will provide advice, check symptoms and connect people with 
healthcare professionals. 

 Work with the voluntary sector, developers and individuals in creating a range of 
apps to support particular conditions including IAPT and diabetes. 

 By 2020 every patient with a long term conditions will have access to their health 
record through the Summary Care Records. 

 Patient Personal Health Record will hold a care plan that incorporates information 
added by the patients themselves or their authorised carer. 

 Over the next three years all staff working in the community will have access to 
mobile digital services, including the patient’s care record and plan. 

 Ambulance service will have access to digital tools that they need to reduce 
avoidable conveyance to A&E. 

 Informatics leadership representation on the board of every NHS organisations, 
with chief executives capable of driving the transformation of their organisations 
and non-executive directors able to support and demand increasing digital 
maturity over the next five years. 

 Over the next five years every patient will be able to access a GP digitally, and 
where appropriate, opt for a virtual outpatient appointment. 

 All providers across acute and community and mental health settings will be 
expected to advance a core level of digitisation by 2024. 

 A new wave of Global Digital Exemplars will enable trusts to use world-class 
digital technology and information to deliver better care, more efficiently. 

 Population health management solutions will be available to ICSs to understand 
the areas of greatest health need. 
 

Planned Care 

 Redesign services so that over the next five years a third of face-to-face follow-up 
outpatients appointments will no longer take place. 

 Expand the number of physiotherapists working in primary care networks. 

 Expectation that increased funding will over the next five years cut long waits and 
reduce waiting lists. 

 Anyone who has been waiting for six months will be reviewed and given the 
option of faster treatment at an alternative provider. 

Urgent Care 

 In 2019 England will be covered by 24/7 integrated urgent care service, accessible 
via NHS 111 or online. 

 All hospitals with a major A&E will provide Same Day Emergency Care service at 
least 12 hours a day, 7 days a week by the end of 2019/20. 

 Provision of acute frailty service for at least 70 hours a week. 

 Further reduce DTOC in partnership with local authorities. 

 Clinical Assessment Service to be embedded within NHS 111 from 2019/20. 

 

 

92



 
 

                                                      
 

 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  

13 MARCH 2019  
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND CCG PERFORMANCE 
SERVICE 

 
HEALTH PERFORMANCE UPDATE AT FEBRUARY 2019  

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to provide the Committee with an update on health 

performance in Leicestershire and Rutland based on the available data at 
February 2019.    

 
Background 
 
2. The Committee has, as of recent years, received a joint report on health 

performance from the County Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the 
CCG Commissioning Support Performance Service. The report aims to provide 
an overview of performance issues on which the Committee might wish to seek 
further reports and information, inform discussions and check against other 
reports coming forward.  

 
NHS Constitution  
 
3. At a national level the health performance reporting model is influenced by the 

Government’s mandate to NHS England. A revised mandate was issued 
relating to the period 2017-18. There are also a wide range of separate clinical 
and regulatory standards that apply to individual services and providers. The 
Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) sets out metrics on which to help 
assess public health performance and there is a separate framework for other 
health services. Adult social care outcomes are covered by the Adult Social 
Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) and the Better Care Fund (BCF) is 
subject to separate guidance.      

    
Changes to Performance Reporting Framework 
 
4. A small number of changes have been made to the way performance is 

reported to the Committee to reflect comments at the last meeting including 
inclusion of a wider range of cancer metrics and Never Events and Serious 
incidents related to UHL. The overall framework will continue to evolve to take 

93 Agenda Item 13



 
 

account of the above developments as well as any particular areas that the 
Committee might wish to see included.        

 
5. The following 4 areas therefore form the current basis of reporting to this 

committee:-  
 

a. Performance against the key metrics/targets set out in the Better Care 
Fund plan, in relation to health and care integration;   

b. Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) performance for both West 
Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs; 

c. Quality - UHL Never Events/Serious Incidents; and   
d. An update on wider Leicestershire public health outcome metrics and 

performance.   
 
    
Better Care Fund Performance 
 
6. BCF planning guidance, released in July 2017, reduced the number of BCF 

metrics from six to four. The guidance contained a requirement for all areas to 
reduce the number of delayed transfers of care (DToCs). 

 
7.     A refresh to the BCF 2017/19 operating guidance was published on 18th July  

2018. There is an expectation that the target for delayed transfers of care will 
be met by the end of September 2018 and this level will be maintained or 
exceeded thereafter. A review of other BCF outcome metrics has been carried 
out and these have been updated accordingly.  

 
8. The first wave of Care Quality Commission local system reviews were 

undertaken during quarter 3 2017/18, which covered 12 areas across England. 
The second wave of local reviews was published in December. Leicestershire 
has not been included in this list, which is reflective of the good overall 
comparative performance – see later sections below.  

 
Metric 1: Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to 
residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population, per year 
 
9. The BCF target for permanent admissions to care for those aged 65+ during 

2018/19 is a maximum of 890 admissions. There have been 650 permanent 
residential admissions between April and December 2018. The current full year 
forecast of 858 is predicted- a full year variance of -32.  Performance is RAG-
rated green and is statistically similar to the target.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

94



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Metric 2: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services  
 

10. For hospital discharges between Aug and Oct 2018, 90.3% of people 

discharged from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services were still at 

home after 91 days.  This is above the 2018/19 target of 87%. Performance is 

RAG-rated green and is statistically significantly better than the target. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

95



 
 

 

96



 
 

 
 
Metric 3: Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population 
 
11. The Government’s mandate to the NHS for 2018-19 has set an overall ambition 

for reducing delays to around 4,000 hospital beds occupied by patients delayed 
without discharge by September 2018. For Leicestershire this equated to 
DTOCs not exceeding 7.88 in every 100,000 population per day. 

 
12. In December there were 1,245 days delayed for Leicestershire residents. For 

April 2018 to December 2018 there was a total of 9,530 delayed days, 1753 per 

100,000 and an average of 6.37 per day per 100,000. The target was achieved 

in 8 out of 9 months. Performance is RAG-rated green and is statistically 

significantly better than the target. This is a 32% reduction in delayed bed days 

compared to the same period in 2017/18. In relation to delayed bed days 

between April and December 8246 were due to NHS reasons, 650 ASC and 

634 due to both.  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

97



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

13. The reduction in the number of delayed beds days is attributed to a 
concentrated effort from all partners to reduce DTOC’s. This includes 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) restructuring staffing to focus on 
complex patients with a long length of stay, focusing matrons on wards to look 
at census data directly and reviewing all end to end processes to improve 
patient flow. 

 
14.   Within University Hospitals Leicester (UHL) the development of the Integrated 

Discharge Team (IDT) and the utilising the Red2Green process, which looks at 
patient delays on a daily basis, has positively impacted on delays. Across 
partners two Multi- Agency discharge events were held over two weekly periods 
(December and January) to look at all delayed patients using escalation calls for 
all partner involvement. This included transport providers, adult social care and 
housing.  

 
Summary of DTOC Actions Taken 

 
15.    A detailed joint action plan is in progress to further maintain and improve the 

delayed transfers of care position. The following paragraphs provide an update 
on actions since the last report.  
 

16.    The redesign of discharge pathway 2 (home with new support) and pathway 3 
(complex transfers – unable to go straight home) led by Home First is due to 

98



 
 

take place. This will include agreeing and implementing an LLR-wide model for 
Discharge to Assess and reablement. 

 

17.    The development of trusted assessment between staff across the hospital and 
with services providing Home First community services and with care home 
providers, both for new and existing resident transfers is to be progressed. 

 

18.    There are plans to bring the Housing Enablement Team into the Integrated 
Discharge Teams (IDT), and increases in resources to support IDT presence at 
the front door are to take place. The discharge hub environment usage is to be 
reviewed to ensure that all those who need to work together to pursue complex 
discharges are able to do so, not just those specifically identified as IDT 
members or those working on a limited number of wards. 

19.    Opportunities are to be explored for all adult social care staff facilitating 
discharges to have access to NHS systems to share information about patients’ 
requirements. Combining the IDT with red2green and (possibly the flow 
coordinators) would allow a wider resource to be focused on similar issues and 
responses e.g. being eyes and ears for each other’s requirements, challenging 
decisions and progress in the same way. 
 

20.    The actions taken also include: 

 A review of the effectiveness of the continuing healthcare end to end process 

implemented within Community and Community Hospitals;  

 A phased implementation of the continuing healthcare end to end process for 

UHL with an assessor for Midlands and Lancashire CSU commencing in 

March to support the Complex Discharge Team. 

 
 
Metric 4: Total non-elective admissions into hospital (general and acute), per 
100,000 population, per month 
 
21. Secondary User Statistics data for April 2018 – December 2018 shows 50,560 

non-elective admissions. This a variance of -2,087 against a month 9 target of 
52,647. The target has been achieved in 9 out of 9 months. A full year forecast 
of 68,482 has been predicted – variance of -2,087 and rag rated green. Non-
elective admissions are prominent within 65+ adults at 48.2% compared with 
39.3% for 18-64 and 12.5% for children.   

 
22. We also have a local metric on injuries due to in people aged 65 and over. 

There were 1800 non-elective admission for falls related injuries between April 
and December. This a variance of -33 against the Q3 target of 1833 and a 
reduction of 5% compared to the same period last year.      

 
23. The overall performance on emergency admissions continues to be challenging 

for the whole of LLR but is rated as green.  The new model of urgent care, 

99



 
 

which the BCF contributes towards, was commissioned with effect from April 
2017 across LLR. However, the rate of admissions for Leicestershire has not 
reduced during 2017/18 and 2018/19.   

 
 

 
 
 
CCG Performance Dashboards - Appendix 1 and 2 
 
24. NHS England’s CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) was 

introduced in 2016/17, it aligns key objectives and priorities and informs the 
way NHS England manages relationships with CCGs. In November 2018 NHS 
England refreshed the Improvement and Assessment Framework for CCGs for 
2018/19. 

 
25. This framework provides a greater focus on assisting improvement alongside 

statutory assessment functions and is based on 4 areas of assurance for each 
CCG - Better Health, Sustainability, Leadership and Better Care. The full 
dashboards, as published in January 2019 by NHS England, showing CCG 
performance across all 4 domains, are reported in Appendix 1 (ELR) and 
Appendix 2 (WL). The dashboards within the appendices of this report mirror 
the format of the 2018/19 IAF. 

 
26. The following table provides an explanation for the key IAF constitutional 

indicators not being achieved. Up-to-date data has been provided in the table 
where available. Details of local actions in place in relation to these metrics are 
also shown. 

100



 
 

 

 
Constitution metrics 
‘at risk’ as per 
January 19 IAF and 
explanation of metric 
 

 
Most recent local 
data 
 

 
Local actions in place/supporting 
information 
 

Cancer 62 days of 
referral to treatment  
The indicator is a core 
delivery indicator that 
spans the whole 
pathway from referral 
to first treatment 
covering the length of 
time from urgent GP 
referral, first outpatient 
appointment, decision 
to treat and finally first 
definitive treatment. 
 
Shorter waiting times 
can help to ease 
patient anxiety and, at 
best, can lead to earlier 
diagnosis, quicker 
treatment, a lower risk 
of complications, an 
enhanced patient 
experience and 
improved cancer 
outcomes. 

National Target 
>85% 
 
 
Latest Performance 
ELR (All Providers); 
April 18 – Dec 18 79% 
(688 referrals out of 
873 treated within 
62days). It is worth 
noting ELR achieved 
the national target in 
the month of 
December 2018.  
 
 
WL (All Providers); 
April 18 – Dec 18 77% 
(684 referrals out of 
892 treated within 
62days) 
 
UHL (All patients); 
April 18 – Dec 18 76% 
(1632 referrals out of 
2155 treated within 
62days) 
 

Focus on reducing the backlog and 
maximising capacity continues.  
 
Urology continues to have the biggest 
backlog at UHL. Late tertiary referrals 
continue to have a significant impact in 
this tumour site.  
 
UHL working with Nottingham and NHS 
England to explore a combined approach 
to service provision allied to Consultant 
vacancies in Radiology and Oncology. 
 
Preparations for the shadow reporting of 
the new 28 Day Faster Diagnostic 
Standard from 1st April 2109 are 
progressing. 
 
System wide deep dive into the findings 
of the Patient Experience Survey to 
develop action plans to support areas of 
improvement. 
 
Reviewing alternative skill mix to free up 
critical roles (Radiology, Oncology).  
Weekend lists in place for treatment and 
diagnostics. 
 

 
A&E admission, 
transfer, discharge 
within 4 hours 
A&E waiting times form 
part of the NHS 
Constitution. This 
measure aims to 
encourage providers to 
improve health 
outcomes and patient 
experience of A&E. 
 
The standard relates to 
patients being 
admitted, transferred or 
discharged within 4 
hours of their arrival at 
an A&E department. 
 

 
18/19 National 
Target >90% in 
September 18, and 
95% in March 19 
 
UHL  
% All UHL+UCC < 
4Hrs – April 18 – Feb 
19 83% 
 
UHL ED only 
April 18 – Feb 19 77% 
 
(172,448 patients 
admitted, transferred 
or discharged  within 
4hrs out of 223,592 
total patients) 
 

 
Primary challenges to 4hr standard 
delivery are largely affiliated with the 
volume of attendances into ED, increases 
in walk-in and ambulance conveyances. 
There remain variances between 
admission/discharge profiles Monday to 
Sunday impacting flow and disabling 
quick recovery at points of surge and 
heightened pressure (particularly low 
discharge at weekends but busiest inflow 
on Mondays). 
 
Non-admitted breaches remain higher 
than expected and a priority area of focus 
and improvement, however non-elective 
admissions at UHL has reduced 
comparatively. High attendances on 
Mondays remain. 
 

101



 
 

 
The national ambition 
in 18/19 is to achieve 
above 90% in 
September 2018, and 
that the majority of 
providers are achieving 
the 95% standard for 
the month of March 
2019 

 
5 LLR Urgent Care 
Centres only 
April 18 – Feb 19 98% 
 
(84,402 patients seen 
within 4hrs out of 
85,741) 
 
 

 
Front door performance continues to vary.  
There has been an improvement in filling 
the number of rota gaps and UHL and 
DHU continue to work closely to monitor 
any gaps. 

 
18 week Referral To 
Treatment (RTT) 
 
The NHS Constitution 
sets out that patients 
can expect to start 
consultant-led 
treatment within a 
maximum of 18 weeks 
from referral for non-
urgent conditions if 
they want this and it is 
clinically appropriate. 
  
18/19 National Target 
>92% of patients to 
start treatment with 
18weeks from referral 
 
In 18/19 the national 
ambition is also that 
the Waiting List should 
be sustained at March 
2018 levels in March 
2019. 
  

 
Latest Performance 
 
ELR (All Providers)  
Dec 18 – 86%  
 
20,661 patients 
waiting at the end of 
March 2018 
21,462 patients 
waiting at the end of 
December 2018. 
 
WL (All Providers) 
Dec 18 – 87%  
 
23,384 patients 
waiting at the end of 
March 2018 
24,343 patients 
waiting at the end of 
December 2018 
 
 
UHL (All Patients)  
UHL are not expecting 
to meet the national 
standard of 92% in 
18/19. 
 
Dec 18 – 85% 
 
64,751 patients 
waiting at the end of 
March 18.  
65,613 patients 
waiting at the end of 
December 18. 

 
UHL are transferring patients to the 
independent sector at the point of referral 
and capacity alerts have gone live on the 
e-Referral Service for gynaecology, 
urology, dermatology and liver/GI to divert 
patients at the point of referral to 
providers with capacity in those 
specialities. 
 
The theatre productivity programme 
should increase productivity ensuring 
capacity is fully utilised and reduce 
cancellations. Work is on-going with IS 
providers to streamline the transfer 
process through use of information 
sharing agreements and standard 
operating procedures. 
 
ELR are expected to achieve a slightly 
lower waiting list in March 2019 compared 
with March 2018, however West 
Leicestershire are expecting a higher 
number of waiters in March 2019 than in 
March 2018. This is in the main due to 
Out of County Providers around the West 
Leicestershire area contributing adversely 
to the waiting list. Actual waiting list 
numbers in March 2019 will not be known 
until mid-May. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

102



 
 

Areas of Improvement 
 

27. There are several areas which are worth commenting on, that have improved in 

2018/19: -  

 there have been no patients waiting longer than 52 weeks for treatment at 

UHL since June 2018; 

 there have been no 12 hour trolley waits since March 2018 at UHL (report to 

Dec 18); 

 there has been just 1 MRSA (avoidable) case at UHL in 2018/19;  

 delayed transfers of care levels remain within tolerance levels at UHL, with 

particularly low levels in November 2018;  

 at the end of Q2, ELR & WL were in the highest performing quartile for the 

number of Personal Health Budgets per population; 

 ELR and WL CCG’s continue to achieve the national standard that over 67% 

of the expected number of dementia patients now have a dementia diagnosis 

within primary care. 

 
Cancer Metrics 
 

28. The following table outlines the most recent performance for all 9 national 

Cancer metrics. It can be seen that the two 2 week wait metrics are not 

achieving the national standard, and neither is the 31 day treatment (surgery) 

metric. The 62 day metric is outlined in the table above.  

 

103



 
 

 
 
 

104



 
 

2 Week Wait Cancer Metrics 
 

29. Due to the backlog clearance during November and December 2018, there was 

a significant impact on UHL’s performance against this standard.  UHL cleared 

the 2 week wait breast backlog which is being reflected in the performance 

position for both November and December.  Patients are now being booked 

within 14 days.  To ensure the improved backlog position, UHL has established 

a Working Group to look at transformational change.  Trust visits to Peer Group 

Trusts (Barts and Nottingham) are being planned to support transformational 

change. 

 

30. Capacity constraints continue to impact on the service.  Year to date growth is 
4.3% higher than same period last year. Additional clinics at the weekend to 
provide extra sessions are currently in place. The Breast Awareness campaign 
in October has impacted on referrals. The expectation is that the 2 week wait 
standard is predicted to recover in January 2019. 

 
31day (surgery) Cancer Metric 
 
31. The majority of the breaches are in Urology. Tertiary referrals remain a concern 

specifically for Urology (robotic surgery) and late tertiary referrals to Lung. 
HDU/ITU constraints is a contributing factor for the current performance 

 

Never Events and Serious Incidents (SI) at UHL    
 
32. To date in 2018/19 UHL have escalated 6 Never Events; 4 wrong site surgery, 

1 wrong implant/prosthesis and 1 unintentional connection of a patient requiring 

oxygen to an air flow meter. The table below shows how UHL compare with 

some local Trusts and others Trusts of a similar size. Each Never Event type 

has the potential to cause serious patient harm or death.  

105



 
 

 
33. During this same time period the Trust has escalated 28 Serious Incidents. 

There is no nationally set target placed on a Trust for the maximum number of 

Serious Incidents, however UHL have set an internal target of no more than 37 

in 2018/19.  The graph below shows the number of Serious Incidents escalated 

per month since January 2012 to date, this shows a decreasing trend. 

 

 

Reported Never Events by Categorisation 
April 2018 to January 2019 

W
ro

ng
 si

te
 su

rg
er

y 

Re
ta

in
ed

 fo
re

ig
n 

ob
je

ct
 p

os
t p

ro
ce

du
re

 

W
ro

ng
 im

pl
an

t/
pr

os
th

es
is 

Un
in

te
nt

io
na

l c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

of
 a

 p
at

ie
nt

 
re

qu
iri

ng
 o

xy
ge

n 
to

 a
n 

ai
r f

lo
w

m
et

er
 

M
isp

la
ce

d 
na

so
- o

r o
ro

ga
st

ric
 tu

be
s 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
of

 m
ed

ica
tio

n 
by

 th
e 

w
ro

ng
 ro

ut
e 

Ov
er

do
se

 o
f i

ns
ul

in
 d

ue
 to

 

ab
br

ev
ia

tio
ns

 o
r i

nc
or

re
ct

 d
ev

ice
 

M
iss

el
ec

tio
n o

f h
ig

h 
st

re
ng

th
 

m
id

az
ol

am
 

To
ta

l 

Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust     12 1         13 

Barts Health NHS Trust 4 5 1 1 1       12 

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 3 2   2   1 1   9 

Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust 4 2 1 2         9 

University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust 1 2 1 2 2   1   9 

University Hospitals of Derby and Burton NHS Foundation Trust 3 1   3   1     8 

Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust 5     1     1   7 

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust 4   1 1         6 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 1   1 2 1       5 

United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 2       1     2 5 

Total 27 12 17 15 5 2 3 2 83 

 

106



 
 

 
 
 

34. The UHL Never Event action plan details some of the work being undertaken 

within the Trust to reduce Never Events and patient harm. This action plan has 

been carefully monitored at the Trust’s Executive Quality Board and Quality and 

Outcomes Committee. UHL have a structured programme of work to ensure 

that they learn and improve and will continue to work with NHS Improvement, 

HSIB (Health Safety Investigation Branch) and other groups to maximise their 

efforts. 

 
CCG Planning Round 2019/20 
 
35. There are several new performance indicators that CCGs are in the process of 

finalising as part of the NHS Planning Round for 2019/20. These are; 

 

 An LLR wide Primary Care Workforce Plan; 

 Proportion of the population with access to GP online consultations; 

 Primary Care Extended Access Appointment Utilisation; 

107



 
 

 111 directly booking appointments into the primary care extended access 

services; 

 People with a severe mental illness receiving a full annual physical health 

check and follow-up interventions; 

 IAPT Workforce (IAPT trainees and Therapists co-located in primary care). 

 
36. These may or may not be included within the 2019/20 CCG IAF and therefore 

will be included in future HOSC reports as appropriate.  

 
Public Health Outcomes Performance – Appendix 3  

 
37. Appendix 3 sets out current performance against a range of outcomes set in 

the performance framework for public health. The Framework contains 38 

indicators related to public health priorities and delivery. The dashboard sets 

out, in relation to each indicator, the statistical significance compared to the 

overall England position or relevant service benchmark where appropriate.  A 

rag rating of ‘green’ shows those that are performing better than the England 

value or benchmark and ‘red’ worse than the England value or benchmark. 

 
38. Analysis shows that of the comparable indicators, 19 are green, 11 amber and 

3 reds. There are 5 indicators that are not suitable for comparison or have no 

national data.  

 

39. Of the 19 green indicators, the following indicators, under 18 conceptions, new 

sexually transmitted infections and smoking status at time of delivery have 

shown significant improvement over the last few years. Breast cancer 

screening coverage and cervical cancer screening coverage has shown a 

significant declining (worsening) performance over the last five years. This 

declining trend, for both indicators, is witnessed nationally. Data is now 

available for breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks due to improved data 

quality. This shows Leicestershire performs significantly better (45.0%) than the 

national average (42.7%) in 2017/18. 

 
40. More recent data has been published for indicators relating to life expectancy. 

This shows Leicestershire continues to perform significantly better than the 

national average with regards to life expectancy and healthy life expectancy for 

both genders. Compared to the previous year’s data, life expectancy has 

increased for both genders but healthy life expectancy has remained stable for 

males and declined for females (albeit only marginally by 0.1 years). Inequality 

in life expectancy (the range in years of life expectancy across the social 

gradient within each area, from most to least deprived) has widened for both 

males and females, from 6.2 years to 6.6 years in males and 5.1 years to 5.5 

108



 
 

years in females. Despite this, since recordings (in 2010-12) Leicestershire has 

continued to have a smaller inequality in life expectancy for both genders 

compared to nationally. 

 

41. Of the 11 indicators that are amber, the proportion of five-year old children free 

from dental decay in Leicestershire for 2016/17 has significantly increased 

compared to the data from the previous survey. There are no significant 

changes for successful completion of drug treatment for non-opiate users. 

Successful completion of drug treatment for opiate users has shown a trend of 

worsening performance; however more recent local data has shown 

improvements. 

 
42. Of the three red indicators, these include – chlamydia detection rate which 

shows Leicestershire has declined to be worse than the benchmark goal and is 

ranked 4th out of 16 of the CIPFA nearest neighbours (1 being the best); Take 

up of NHS health checks for the time period 2013/14-2017/18, Leicestershire is 

ranked 13th out of 16. Further work is underway to progress improvement 

across the range of indicator areas. Further consideration will be given to 

actions to tackle these areas as part of Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

implementation and the public health service plan development process.  

 
43. The latest data for the child excess weight indicators in 2017/18 show a 

significant increase (worsening) compared to the previous year for both excess 

weight indicators for 4-5 year olds and 10-11 year olds in Leicestershire.  In 

particular, these figures show higher levels than would normally be expected in 

both reception year children and Year 6 children in Hinckley and Bosworth. LPT 

have carried out a thorough investigation and the results indicate a data quality 

issue and an error in the calibration of the height measuring equipment used for 

children in this district. LPT has taken all the necessary steps to ensure that all 

height measures in use by school nursing teams are appropriately calibrated so 

that this inaccuracy will not be repeated in future. 

 
44. HIV late diagnosis (%) for 2015-17 for Leicestershire has no value presented as 

the data is supressed due to disclosure issues. Breastfeeding initiation for 

Leicestershire has no value presented due to data quality reasons. Self-

reported wellbeing – people with a low worthwhile score for 2016/17 for 

Leicestershire has no value due to the number of cases being too small. 

 
45. Leicestershire and Rutland have combined values for the following three 

indicators -  smoking status at time of delivery, successful completion of drug 

treatment (opiate users) and successful completion of drug treatment (non-

opiate users). 

109



 
 

 
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 and 2 – CCG Performance Dashboards 
Appendix 3 – Public Heath Performance Dashboard   
 
Background papers 
 
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following 
link: 
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-
directors/board-meeting-dates/ 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Kate Allardyce - NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 
Kate.allardyce@nhs.net Tel: 0121 61 10112 
 
Natalie Davison, Public Health Intelligence Business Partner 
Natalie.davison@leics.gov.uk 
 
Andy Brown – Operational BI and Performance Team, Leicestershire County Council 
Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk Tel 0116 305 6096  

110

http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-directors/board-meeting-dates/
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-directors/board-meeting-dates/
mailto:Kate.allardyce@nhs.net
mailto:Natalie.davison@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk


1 
 

  

 

Appendix 1 – East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG 

 

111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  

 

 

Appendix 2 – West Leicestershire CCG 

113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Public Health and Prevention Indicators in Leicestershire

0.1i - Healthy life expectancy at birth, (F) 2015 - 17 High 65.7 9/16 63.8
0.1i - Healthy life expectancy at birth, (M) 2015 - 17 High 65.2 7/16 63.4
0.1ii - Life expectancy at birth, (F) 2015 - 17 High 84.1 8/16 83.1
0.1ii - Life expectancy at birth, (M) 2015 - 17 High 80.8 5/16 79.6
0.2iii - Inequality in life expectancy at birth, (F) 2015 - 17 Low 5.5 9/16 7.4
0.2iii - Inequality in life expectancy at birth, (M) 2015 - 17 Low 6.6 5/16 9.4
1.16 - Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons, (P) Mar 2015 - Feb 2016 High 20.8 3/16 17.9
2.02i - Breastfeeding initiation, (F) 2016/17 High Null Null 74.5
2.02ii - Breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks after birth, (P) 2017/18 High 45.0 6/11 42.7
2.03 - Smoking status at time of delivery, (F) 2017/18 Low 9.5 3/16 10.8
2.04 - Under 18 conceptions, (F) 2016 Low 13.7 5/16 18.8
2.06i - Child excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds - 4-5 year olds, (P) 2017/18 Low 24.3 15/16 22.4
2.06ii - Child excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds - 10-11 year olds, (P) 2017/18 Low 32.7 12/16 34.3
2.12 - Percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as overweight or obese, (P) 2016/17 Low 62.7 10/16 61.3
2.13i - Percentage of physically active adults, (P) 2016/17 High 66.2 12/16 66.0
2.13ii - Percentage of physically inactive adults, (P) 2016/17 Low 21.7 11/16 22.2
2.14 - Smoking Prevalence in adults - current smokers (APS), (P) 2017 Low 12.1 2/16 14.9
2.23ii - Self-reported wellbeing - people with a low worthwhile score, (P) 2017/18 Low Null Null 3.6
4.02 - Proportion of five year old children free from dental decay, (P) 2016/17 High 77.7 15/16 76.7
2.18 - Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions - narrow definition, (P) 2017/18 Low 556.3 4/16 632.3
4.01 - Infant mortality, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 3.7 10/16 3.9
4.04i - Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular diseases, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 62.1 7/16 72.5
4.05i - Under 75 mortality rate from cancer, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 119.8 2/16 134.6
4.06i - Under 75 mortality rate from liver disease, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 13.7 6/16 18.5
4.07i - Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 27.0 7/16 34.3
4.10 - Suicide rate, (P) 2015 - 17 Low 7.9 4/16 9.6
4.15iii - Excess winter deaths index (3 years, all ages), (P) Aug 2014 - Jul 2017 Low 18.8 4/16 21.1
4.15iv - Excess winter deaths index (3 years, age 85+), (P) Aug 2014 - Jul 2017 Low 26.5 5/16 29.3
2.15i - Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users, (P) 2017 High 5.5 14/16 6.5
2.15ii - Successful completion of drug treatment - non-opiate users, (P) 2017 High 34.7 7/16 36.9
2.17 - Estimated diabetes diagnosis rate, (P) 2018 High 79.4 6/16 78.0
2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer, (F) 2018 High 81.3 1/16 74.9
2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer, (F) 2018 High 77.0 4/16 71.4
2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer, (P) 2018 High 63.6 4/16 59.0
2.22iv - Cumulative % of eligible pop aged 40-74 offered and received an NHS Health Check, (P) 2013/14 - 17/18 High 43.1 13/16 48.7
3.02 - Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds), (P) 2017 High 1,886.5 4/16 1,881.9
New STI diagnoses (exc chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000, (P) 2017 Low 539.9 9/16 793.8
3.04 - HIV late diagnosis, (P) 2015 - 17 Low Null Null 41.1

A
ll

Pr
im
ar
y/
Se
co
nd
ar
y

Pr
im
ar
y

Se
co
nd
ar
y

Prevention        Indicator                                                                                                                                                                         Time Period                           Polarity                Value                    NN Rank             England               DoT              RAG

Nearest Neighbour Rank: 1 is calculated as the best (or lowest when no polarity is applied)

Statistical Significance
compared to England or
Benchmark:

Direction of Travel:

Source: PHE, February 2019

115



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2019.
	8 Cancer Performance Update.
	9 Healthwatch Review of Winter Messages.
	Winter health messages report draft_

	10 Urgent and Emergency Care Resilience and Winter 2018/19.
	Appendix 1-LLR-WinterCommunicationsEval-JPDR-14.02.19

	11 Non Emergency Transport - TASL
	12 NHS Long Term Plan.
	13 Health Performance Update.
	Appendix 1 ELR Perf
	Appendix 2 WL Perf
	API HOSC Performance Workbook Feb19 v1.0


